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INTRODUCTiON 

The purpose of this paper is to examine the political 

career of Harry St. George Tucker of Virginia, 1888-1932. 

Tucker's career was distinguished primarily by its length. 

It began as Reconstructicn faded and concluded as the New 

Deal began. 

The paper concerns Tucker's lifelong advocacy of 

states' rights, which lends continuity to his otherwise frag­

mented career. Tucker's career divides into three sections: 

his first years in Congress (1888-1896), the intermediate 

years (1897-1921), and his final years in Congress (1922-1932). 

HERITAGE 

Harry St. George Tucker was the product of a long 

line of prominent Virginians. Every generation of the Tucker 

family had provided the state with politicians, lawyers, 

teachers, jurists and authors. Originally from England, 

the family _history begins with William Tucker of Thornby 

County. Two of the family immigrated to Jamestown, Virginia, 

in the seventeenth century. One of these, George Tucker, 

was a prominent member of the London Company; the other, 

Daniel Tucker, sailed from Virginia to Bermuda where he became 
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Governor in 1616. 1 

From Daniel Tucker's line came Tucker's great grand-

. father, St. George Tucker, who came to Virginia from Bermuda 

in 1771. Tucker's great grandfather distinguished himself 

while serving under George Washington at the battle of York­

town. He went on to become a distinguished professor of law 

at the College of William and Mary. 2 

Henry St. George Tucker, son of St. George Tucker, 

and grandfather of the subject of this paper,served as a 

member of Congress from 1815 to 1819. He later became presi­

dent of the Court of Appeals of Virginia and a professor of 

law of the University of Virginia. 3 

Tucker's father, John Randolph Tucker, far surpassed 

his ancestors in renown. He served as Virginia's Attorney 

General during the Civil War and acted as counsel to Confederate 

President Jefferson Davis after his arrest at the end of the 

war. From 1870 until 1875 he was a professor of law at 

Washington and Lee University. In 1875 he won election to 

Congress from Virginia's tenth district where he served until 

1887. He then returned to Washington and Lee where he remained 

until his death in 1897. He further enhanced his reputation 

by serving as President of the Virginia Bar Association in 

1891 and the American Bar Association in 1893. He was an 

ardent advocate of states' ri~hts and a nationally known 
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constitutional lawyer whose book Tucker on the Constitution 

(1889) was a text for the strict constructionists. 4 He 

was, without a doubt, the single greatest influence on his 

son who foLlowed faithfully in his footsteps throughout his own 

career. 

Henry st·. George Tucker was born in Winchester, 

Virginia, in 1853 and was known as "Harry." During the war 

. 5 
years of 1861-1865, he attended a private school in Richmond. 

He then attended a private school in Middleburg, Virginia, 

from 1865 to 1871 and completed his education at Washington 

and Lee where he received a Master of Arts Degree in 1875 and 

. 6 
a Bachelor of Laws degree in 1876. In 1877 he moved from 

Lexington to Staunton where he set up a law practice with 

George M. Harrison. That same year, on October 25, Tucker 

married Henrietta Preston Johnston, the granddaughter of 

General Albert Sidney Johnston of Civil War fame. By her, 

he had three sons ... John Randolph, Albert Sidney Johnston, 

and Henry St. George, Jr. and three daughters---Rosa, Laura 

d 
. 7 an Henrietta. 

Tucker practiced law in Staunton for thirteen years 

and quickly became known as "one of the brightest and most 

8 
promising young lawyers in the town." After finishing law 

school, he entered politics as an ardent Democrat. His arrival 

in Staunton coincided with the critical Tilden-Hayes 
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Presidential election of 1876. He first gained the eye of 

the public when he took to the stump in his father's behalf 

in this campaign. He revealed the ability and attractiveness 

that gained him many friends throughout Virginia from the 

9 
outset. 

Tucker's best known characteristics were his happy 

disposition and lovable nature. He was widely known as "happy, 

1 f 1 .. 10 
a most to a au t •••• He made scores of political 

enemies, but on a personal level was widely regarded as "the 

11 most lovable man in the whole state." His charisma and 

charm as "an apostle of sunshine and cheer" made him an 

enduring favorite with Virginia's voters, even when the poli-

12 
tical climate was openly hostile. In or out of office, 

Tucker's popularity was a consistent feature of his fifty­

six years of professional life. 
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CHAPTER I 

THE FIRST CONGRESSIONAL TERM OF HENRY ST. GEORGE 
TUCKER, 1889-1896 

The political career of Henry St. George Tucker began, 

quite naturally, in the shadow of his father's good 

reputation. John Randolph Tucker voluntarily retired from 

Congress in 1886 to become a professor of law at Washington 

and Lee University. 13 The tenth district was then captured 

by Jacob Yost, a young Republican from Staunton. 14 An "aroused 

and militant" Democratic party began making plans to reclaim 

the tenth in 1888. To the younger Tucker the progression 

from lawyer to politician was an easy one. His Democratic 

zeal combined witp his family name and connections made him 

a natural candidate. William c. Preston, Virginia Attorney 

General, typified Tucker's supporters: "If you will but follow 

in the footsteps of your illustrous father, your name will be 

in Virginia what his has been for so long, a synonym for 

15 
strength, honor and purity in public as well as private life." 

R. B. Robinson, the editor of the Staunton National Echo, 

offered support of a more tangible nature: "Your father has 

done me a great deal of good and I can never pay him for it, 

1 
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but I can use my influence in the campaign for you and his 

friends •••• I have always controlled five hundred colored 

. 16 
votes 1.n Augusta County." 

In August of 1888 the tenth district Democrats held 

their convention in Staunton. George M. Harrison, Tucker's 

law partner, gave a rousing speech in the nominee's behalf. 

He declared that Tucker, though a young man of thirty five, 

was not in his "political swaddling clothes ••• for in most 

of the counties of this district there is scarcely a cross­

road where his voice has not been heard in behalf of 

17 Democracy." Harrison went on to extol Tucker's appeal in 

the most emphatic terms: "he is a captivating popular speaker, 

he is a strong and ready debator and he measures up fully to 

the Jeffersonian Standard of fidelity, honesty and capability. 1118 

Tucker's nomination was then seconded by his cousin, Hal D. 

Flood of Appomattox, and Pascal Williams of Highland County. 19 

The other nominees included Sam F. Coleman of Cumberland County, 

William A. Anderson of Rockbridge County, and Thomas P. 

Fitzpatrick of Nelson county. The Convention finally nominated 

Tucker on the thirteenth ballot with 82 1/2 votes, just slightly 

ahead of William A. Anderson who won 72 1/2. 21 As the conven­

tion thundered its support, an enthusiastic gentleman held 

a life-size crayon portrait of Tucker high in the air, and 
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the Stonewall Brigade B.and "discoursed lively national 
. 22 

airs. 11 

The Republicans renominated the incumbent, Jacob Yost, 

who promptly accused Tucker of being a tool of his father, an 

23 opponent of public education and a "pronounced free trader. 11 

Tucker replied by announcing the platform on which he would 

run: 

I am a Democrat squarely and flatfootedly upon my 
party's platform, pure and simple, in favor of a 
reduction of the tariff as championed and advocated 
by the President [Cleveland] and the party. I am 
in favor of education and the masses by aid from 
the national government. I am in full accord with 
every principle of the party.24 

The major issue of the campaign of 1888 was the tariff. Tucker 

stumped the district espousing the traditional Democratic 

dogma. In a debate with Yost in Lexington, he maintained 

that the tariff was a direct tax upon the people, in the 

interest of the protected monopolies of the North. He pointed 

out that the tariff amounted to the protection of the few at 

the expense of the masses. The tariff was a curse, and directly 

opposed to the interests of the wage earners who were forced 

to pay higher prices for the necessities of life because the 

tariff duties were tacked on to the original cost of comrnodities. 25 

Yost responded in true Republican form: the tariff was not 

a tax, direct or indirect. It constituted a necessary safe-

guard for American industries against foreign competition. 26 
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According to the openly partisan Lexington Gazette, 

Tucker easily and brilliantly won all of his joint debates 

. with Yost that fall. Its pages sang his praises in the melo­

dramatic tones of the a'-:Je: "Tucker, the young gladiator, was 

the master of the situation and wore. Yost's scalp at his belt. 

Hail to you, Mr. ·Tucker. You are worthy of the honored name 

you bear--a worthy son of a noble sire and the Democracy of 

the 10th district. .. 27 

In November Tucker defeated Yost by a comfortable 

majority. The vote in Rockbridge County, however, was close: 

Tucker polled 2,048 votes to Yost's 1,973. 28 The Gazette 

showed its jubilation by publishing a cartoon depicting Tucker 

as a bantam rooster crowing 11 Cook-a-doodle-do! 11 and Yost as 

a sickly hen labeled 11 Jakey 11 whimpering, 11 I 1 m so sick. 1129 

With Grover Cleveland's defeat at the hands of Republican 

Benjamin Harrison, the Virginia Democrats needed something 

to crow about. Tucker's redemption of the tenth district was 

a great consolation to the faithful of the Old Dominion. 30 

When the 51st Congress convened on March 4, 1889, 

Tucker began his first congressional term of eight years. 

He was easily reelected through the 54th Congress of 1896. In 

the early days, the young congressman's policies were firmly 
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grounded in the traditions of his father. Tucker was in all 

things a conservative. His most readily apparent and longest 

lastin~ doctrine was his strict constructionist view of the 

Constitution. As his colleague, Congressman Menalcas -Lankford 

of Norfolk phrased it, "The Constitution of the United States 

was his shield and buckler, and his flashing eye and vigorous 

delivery even in his advancing years reminded one of the bugle 

call of the aged hunter when the constitution was in dan-3er. 1131 

This devotion to the Constitution was the unifyin~ thread of 

Tucker's entire political career. 

A second theme in Tucker's career was his firm commit-

ment to preservation of the rights of the states. Tucker 

combined the two superbly: 

I acknowledge no fealty to any power in this govern­
ment which is not expressly granted to it by the 
Constitution, and I recognize my fealty as a citi­
zen of Virginia to the constitution of my country 
first and supreme in its own sphere, over all law 
state or otherwise. But where it has not the power 
to go, where it has not been granted specifically, 
I do not recognize it at a11. 32 

In his first Congressional terms Tucker applied his 

principles in a direct and effective way. The amount of legis­

lation he introduced, however, was not large. His persistence 

in reintroducin~ the measures he believed in and in guiding them 

to success sta-nd as the most salient characteristic of those 
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years. 

Those who knew Tucker characterized him as "a gentleman 

33 
typical of the old South." Tuck~r•s six year struggle to 

rid the South of the last vestige of the Reconstruction era: 

the federal election laws, served to- reinforce this picture. 

At the end of.the war the South was a defeated but unrepentent 

section. The radical Republicans had been determined to recon­

struct the South upon the framework they themselves deemed 

proper. As the years passed and military occupation gave 

way to civilian government, many in the North were concerned 

for the rights of the freedmen and for honest elections in 

the South. The Radicals passed an elaborate series of statutes 

providing for federal officials to supervise state elections 

and deputy marshals to enforce their directives. Though 

repeatedly denounced as unconstitutional in the South, the 

federal election laws were upheld by the Supreme Court. 34 

Considered as a needed measure in most quarters of the North, 

the sentiment in the South was naturally strongly opposed, as 

one of Tucker's constituents put it: 

These laws are infamous and were enacted for the 
sole purpose of perpetuating the Republican party 
in power. The sooner they are repealed the better, 
believing as I do that hypocrisy and false pretense 
are the main reliance of the Republican party •••• 35 
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On June 26, 1890, Tucker rose in the House of Repre­

sentatives to begin the first great struggle of his early 

career. He spoke at length, building his case for the South 

in a careful legalistic manner: "This is a government of 

limited powers. There is no power we have here except that 

which the Constitution 9ives us •• The Constitution 

certainly did not justify these laws. He first denounced the 

federal supervisors who not only supervised the registration 

of voters but also passed judgment upon the ri3ht of a man to 

vote. 11 I say that the power to pass upon the qualifications 

of a voter to vote is a power that the Constitution gives to 

the States that can not be wrested from them." Cheers broke 

out on the Democratic side of the House. 37 Tucker went on to 

call for a clear separation of Federal and State voting 

regulations, "so that there can be no danger of a collision 

f h 
. 28 

o aut ority. 11 A section of one of the laws provided for 

the punishment of the officers it created to supervise elections. 

Eight sections provided for the punishment of "State officers 

whom it has never created. 1139 With the authority to 

reprimand State officials, the Federal Government had the 

power to control them. He also strenuously objected to the 

power of the chief federal supervisor to appoint an unlimited 

number of deputy marshals to enforce Federal laws within the 
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state. This was Federal control in an area belonging to the 

40 
state. From his specific objections, Tucker turned to his 

overall distaste for the laws: 

The gentleman from Massachusetts, Mr. Henry Cabot 
Lodge, who opened this debate says these are not 
sectional but national measures. Why, gentlemen, 
I say to you that this bill is a sectional one, 
whose operation is chiefly against the Southern 
people. Why, the gentleman from Illinois [Mr. 
Rowell] shows these laws to be sectional ones. 
He says openly that we cheat the negro, that we 
steal his vote and that we murder him. The gentle­
man is not at all discriminating in his remarks 
against us. There is no intimation in his speech 
that there are frauds in elections in any other 
parts of the country; in the State of Maine, [for 
instance] or elsewhere, but only in the South. 41 

Tucker concluded: the South was recoverin-:3 admirably from 

the destruction of the past; only enlightened public sentiment, 

and not outside compulsion, could end election frauds and 

corruption.
42 

He closed by comparing the South to Ireland 

and calling for "home rule 1143 in the South. He even hinted 

that Federally imposed laws were disobeyed anyway but he 

carefully avoided the issue of black civil rights. 

The response to Tucker's speech was overwhelming. 

Even though it was unsuccessful the speech touched a nerve 

h 1 f 
... 44 

among t e peop e o Virginia. Undaunted, Tucker resubmitted 

his bill faithfully into each successive Congress. 

On September 26, 1893, in the 53rd Congress, his bill 
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came up for consideration for the last time. The "Tucker 

Bill," as it had come to be known, was read as "a bill to repeal 

all statutes relating to supervisors of elections and special 

45 
deputy marshals. _" Tucker reiterated his former stand in 

a lengthy argument that stressed the unconstitutional nature 

of the laws: 

Those laws ought to be repealed, Mr. Speaker, because 
they seek to take away from the State, that alone 
can bestow suffrage on the citizen, the power of 
determinins the ri~ht to vote; they ought to be 
repealed, because they have been the subject of 
collisions and jealousies and unnecessary clashing 
of authorities since their enactment; they ought to 
be repealed, sir, because they are reconstruction 
measures, the unhappy reminders of a period of our 
history forever gone, except from the memory of the 
people; they ought to be repealed because the states 
are as much interested in seeing that their Repre­
sentatives are properly elected as the Federal 
Government can possibly be. 46 

Tucker's bill passed the House by a vote of 177 to 75 that broke 

down along straight party lines. 47 In February of 1894, the 

Lexington Gazette announced that the Senate had passed the 

"Tucker Bill," on February 8, and that President Cleveland had 

happily signed it into law in the presence of its author. 

This was the greatest personal triumph of Tucker's early career. 48 

On the national level, Tucker is best known as "the 

father of the 17th.Amendment" providing for the direct election 

49 
of United States senators. In 1890 Tucker secured an 
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appointment to the Committee on the Election of President and 

Vice-President and Representatives in Congress. This committee 

provided an ideal forum for Tucker to express his desire to 

make the government more responsible to the people. His 

appointment, combined with his constant emphasis on the rights 

of the states paved the way in Virginia for that state's eventual 

acceptance of the 17th Amendment. 

On July 12, 1892, Tucker's committee introduced into 

the House a joint resolution "proposing an amendment to the 

Constitution providing that Senators shall be directly elected 

50 
by the people of the several states. 11 Tucker, who was clearly 

the driving force behind it, read the Committee's resolution.
51 

It provided that, "The Senate of the United States shall be 

composed of two senators from each state, elected by the people 

thereof, for six years: and each senator shall have one vote. 

The electors in each state shall have the qualifications 

requisite for electors of the most numerous branch of the State 

Legislatures. 1152 The wording of Tucker's 1892 resolution is 

identical to the first clause of the 17th amendment. The 

conservative Tucker began by arguing that at the Constitutional 

Convention of 1787, Virginia's representatives advocated making 

senator.s more responsible to the people. He quoted George 

Mason who warned the members a,jainst creating an entrenched 

10 
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aristocracy in the Senate.
53 

He then attacked the shady 

politics of the age, and su9gested that the amendment would 

serve as a partial remedy for the prevailing corruption: 

Patriotism has given place to material expediency, 
and the love of country is supplanted by the love 
of money. An aptness for percentages and the 
successful manipulation of railroads and stock 
boards are often regarded as·the most essential 
of Senatorial equipments. The standard for the 
exalted position of United States Senator is thus 
debased by corporate influence. The wire-puller 
and the intriguer are often preferred to the statesman 
and the patriot •••• 54 

Direct election of senators by the people would place the res­

ponsibility in their hands. Tucker considered the people both 

honest and capable. Tucker then pointed out the double threat 

posed by the present system in which the state legislatures 

possessed the authority to elect senators. The money spent 

to corrupt a senatorial selection not only deprived the people 

of an honest senator but also "debauched" the legislature as 

55 
a true servant of the people." "To whom is a Senator respon-

sible" was Tucker's next question. The legislature, he 

answered, that was responsible for his election expired after 

two years. "A derelict Senator can snap his fingers defiantly 

in the face of a defunct legislature. 1156 He then reiterated 

his stand on the separation of state and federal powers, ex-

pressin~ the belief that the state legislatures should be left 
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to administer the state's business without the added respon­

sibility of electing senators. In closing, he explained why 

a staunch defender of the Constitution should seek to alter 

the document he habitually supported: "It is not a radical 

measure. It is conservative. The chanses proposed are not 

organic, but functional. They are not fundamental but 

57 structural." Virginians throughout the state praised the 

speech.Tucker combined intricate reasoning with a common sense 

approach to problems which found a receptive audience in 

Virginia. One constituent phrased his agreementsuccinctly, 

"Certain it is that it is vastly more difficult to corrupt a 

million or so voters than a hundred legislators.•~ Although 

there was widespread support for the amendment in 1892, and 

it passed the House, the same year, only eleven states 

. f. d . 58 rati ie it. 

In the following year, the Virginia senatorial race pro­

vided Tucker with a new opportunity to argue in favor of the 

amendment. In November of 1892 the legislature elected Thomas 

Staples Martin over Fitzhugh Lee, who had been strongly favored 

to win. The sentiment in many quarters ran strongly against 

Martin. Many Virginians felt that the legislature had frus­

trated the popular will and that the Democratic organization 

in Virginia was responsible to itself rather than the people. 59 
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Martin's previous career as a railroad attorney convinced many 

of Tucker's constituents that it had been railroad money and 

rot the voice of the people that convinced the legislature to 

elect Martin. 60 

On July 20, 1894, Tucker aga~n addressed the House 

concernin9 his amendment. He declined to reiterate the argument 

he had initially presented on July 12, 1892, and instead 

addressed the major arguments in opposition to the direct 

election of senators. Opponents of the amendment argued that 

it would destroy the representation of the states as states 

in the Senate as originally contemplated by the framers of 

61 
the Constitution. He countered this contention with his 

old argument that the ultimate sovereignty of a state rested 

with the people and that there was no better way for this 

sovereignty to be expressed than by direct election of senators.
62 

Opponents also argued that the process of electing senators 

indirectly "through the medium of the Legislatures elected 

by the people, tends to secure a more conservative class of 

man less liable to the fluctuations of popular sentiment. 1163 

To this, Tucker replied that, before the Civil War, election 

by the legislature rather than the people had produced 

more responsible senators. He continued: 

Times had changed however, the history of the election 
of senators since the war, in the changed condition 
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of our country with its ever varying political 
elements struggling for supremacy, with its large 
increase of corporate interests, and with the open 
attempt of those interests to control in government 
affairs, make it exceedingly questionable whether 
the conservative forces of the country do not 
rest rather with the people of the country than the 
great corporations which selfishly seek to control 
't 64 i • 

Tucker's resolution again passed the House, but it was not 

ratified by the required two-thirds of the states until 1913, 

when he was temporarily out of Congress. Though it took 

twenty three years, it was highly fitting that a man dedicated 

to the Constitution sponsored an amendment that made it more 

responsive to the people. 

As a loyal Democrat, Tucker favored the reduction of 

the tariff. But he was less interested in the tariff than in 

the direct election of senators. As a result, the debates 

over t~e tariff question afford an excellent view of Tucker 

as a party man. Tucker was elected in 1888 on a Democratic 

platform whose main plank called for a reduction of the tariff. 

duties. Throughout Tucker's early career, the tariff remained 

a critical issue in the agricultural tenth district and through­

out the South. Allen w. Moger offers what perhaps is the best 

insight into the fears of Virginia farmers in the nineties. 

He states: 
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As the plight of the farmers became worse, the Virginia 
farmer complained bitterly about the tariff, dis­
criminatory taxes, trusts, railroads, and declining 
farm prices, deflation of the currency, and the federal 
tax on tobacco and fruit brandies. He believed these 
evils to be a conspiracy between urban industrial 
interests and the ~overnments which profited from them. 65 

On May 19, 1890, Tucker addressed the question of the protective 

tariff and the excise tax on tobacco. The House was then sitting 

in Committee of the whole considering a bill to "reduce the 

revenue and equalize duties on imports. 1166 Tucker first offered 

67 
an amendment to abolish all taxes upon tobacco. He quoted 

the Republican national platform of 1888 which promised a 

repeal cf the tobacco tax. He lambasted the Republicans, and 

pointed the Democratic achievements in the Wilson~Gorman 

Tariff of 1894: "I have stood, sir, with the great party to 

which I belong for many years advocating the total abolition 

of this tax, and by the efforts of that party, we at last got 

the tax reduced to four cents a pound •••• 1168 Tucker compared 

the failure of the Republicans to satisfy Virginia's demand 

for free tobacco to the Democrats success at wiping out the 

69 
tax during the previous Congress. He condemned the inequity 

of a tax system in which tobacco growers were taxed four cents 

a pound and silk and sugar cultivators were paid a bounty 

of two cents per pound: 

Such a system as this bill presents of compelling 
the tobacco-grower to pay money out of his already 
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depleted pocketbook to the silk-grower and sugar­
producer that they may grow richer while he grows 
poorer, is unfair and without the semblance of 
justice and unworthy or the American Congress, 
and against it in behalf of my hard working, tax­
ridden people, I most earnestly protest.70 

The Republican majority of 1890 rejected the pleas of Tucker 

and other southern congressmen. They claimed the tobacco tax 

raised revenue necessary to provide relief for the Union 

f h . · 1 71 veterans o t e Civi War. 

Tucker delivered his major speech on the tariff on 

January 30, 1894. He reviewed the history of the tariff, con­

trasted Republican and Democratic measures and attacked the 

principle of protection. It was an excellent summary of the 

dispute over the tariff which raged on between the Republican 

and Democratic parties during the 1890's, and shows Tucker at 

his rhetorical best. The fundamental difference between the 

Democratic and Republican parties, he insisted, involved their 

conceptions of the nature of government. "The Republican 

idea is that the Government is an institution which can be 

used--nay, more, that ought to be used--for the purpose of 

promoting individual interests. The Democratic idea is that 

it can only use those powers which are given to it in the 

Constitution for the purposes therein given. The 

tariff, Tucker said, was the perfect example of the Republicans 
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using the government to make one set of people rich at the 

73 expense of another. He then traced the Republicans' 

efforts to justify the tariff. First, they argued that the 

tariff was necessary to protect 11 infant industries." When 

this was no longer possible, they argued that the tariff 

protected the working classes from 11 the pauper labor" of Europe. 

Finally, Tucker ccntinued, with the McKinley Tariff of 1890, 

the Republicans stood for "protection for protections sake. 1174 

They maintained that from 1850-1860 there were high prices 

in the United States due to a low tariff. Since then, there 

has been a high tariff which has resulted in low prices and 

more prosperity for all. Therefore, a high tariff was bene­

ficial in that it made for low prices. He shattered this 

argument by pointing out that in Great Britian too there had been 

lower prices since 1860 and that England was a free trade 

75 
country. 

The remainder of Tucker's speech consisted of a com~arison 

between the "Wilson bill," the eventual Wilson-Gorman Tariff of 

1894, and the Republican "McKinley bill. 11 The fundamental 

difference in the two, he said, was that the McKinley bill 

"taxed by specific duties, the thing itself, without regard 

to value and the Wilson bill wipes out this inequality and 

17 
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taxes according to the value of the thin9. 1176 Tucker charged 

that the McKinley bill often put the highest rate of duty on 

the cheapest goods and the lowest on the higher quality mer­

chandise, placing the burden of taxation on those least able 

to bear it and relieving those most ·able to carry it without 

. f' 1 77 dif J.CU ty. The Republican tariff catered to the rich and 

oppressed the working man while the Democratic measure taxed 

all products according to their value. He concluded in a 

grandiose manner, with a paragraph that might have been more 

appropriate on the stump rather than in the House: 

In a country like ours where conditions of life are 
so varied; where one man is rich and another man is 
poor, it is absolutely essential to civil liberty 
that the equality of right should be recognized, 
and where a system is proposed and solemnly enacted 
into law by the Republican party, which lays 
taxes according to the poverty of the people and 
not according to their property, it is not difficult 
to account for the revolution of 1892. 78 

Tucker's speech and many of a similar partisan nature served 

as building blocks to secure the final passage of the Democratic 

Wilson-Gorman Tariff of 1894. 

One of the most important issues to arise in Tucker's 

first congressional term concerned gold and silver. From 1893 

to 1896 the silver issue overshadowed all others in Virginia 

and in the nation •. Cleveland's biographer, Allan Nevins, 

likens the advent of the debate to an avalanche: "a mere whisper 

18 
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at first, then a half inperceptible shift in the landscape, and 

1 k . . . 1 1 79 sudden ya roar, a crac, an 1rres1st1b e catac ysm. 11 

The government's official policy was to maintain a 

bimetallic standard in these years, under which all currency 

was redeemable in gold or silver, by- insuring a treasury gold 

- 80 
reserve of at least $100,000,000 for redemptions on demand. 

The Republican Party officially endorsed the gold standard 

and vigorously upheld by the northeastern monied interests. 

Sentiments for the use of silver as legal tender ran highest 

in the West and the rural South where the amount of currency 

in circulation was small and suspicions of Wall Street were 

high. The issue took on sectional and emotional overtones 

which caused public sentiment in agricultural areas to see 

silver as a financial savior. The economic depression of 1893 

added an overwhelming sense of urgency to an already emotionally 

charged issue. 

As the nation cried for relief, President Grover Cleve-

land moved to combat the crash. Cleveland blamed the 

crash on the Sherman Silver Purchase Act which he had actively 

sought to repeal since his election in 1892. The Silver 

Purchase Act was a Republican creation which required the 

government to purchase 4.5 million ounces of silver a month, 

and to issue notes based on specie that would be legal tender 
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81 
for payment of all debts. Cleveland believed that this monthly 

purchase of silver constitute~ an undesirable strain on the 

gold supply, and demanded its immediate repeal. He called a 

special session of Congress to meet August 7, 1893, to deal 

. 82 
with the issue. 

In Virginia, Cleveland's sound money stand proved a 

highly divisive issue within the Democratic party. For Virginia 

Democrats the dilemma was clear: How could they reconcile 

their pro-silver views with the hard money views of Cleveland 

and the national leadership1 The Democratic party was split 

into "gold" and "silver" factions though a majority of Virginia's 

congressmen were in favor of free silver and believed that 

h h At d 'd t d ht · · 83 t e S erman c i no o enoug o promote its coinage. 

As the state's newspapers, the business interest and the 

politicians argued over the merits of free silver, the demand 

for repeal of the Sherman Act grew louder. The business interests 

agreed with Cleveland's rationale for repeal, but many Democrats 

endorsed repeal only as a means to clear the way for free and 

unlimited coinage of silver. 84 Carter Glass, ardent free 

silverite and editor of the Lynchburg News, led the attacks on 

Cleveland's position in Virginia and expressed the silverite 

view of the crash of 1893: "the New York banks stand unqual­

ifiedly responsible for creating a run upon the treasury gold 
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which has pioduced the present financial humiliation of the 

government and created general financial confusion. 1185 Most 

papers, however, supported repeal, and a survey conducted by 

the New York World in September reported a great deal of senti-

. . . . l 86 ment for immediate and unconditiona ·repeal. In Virginia 

the desire for repeal was strongest in the manufacturing and 

commercial centers, while the farming districts were in favor 

87 
of free silver, and supported repeal as a first step. 

In Congress the Virginia delegation supported the 

President's position by eight to two. Though previously on 

record as opposed to unconditional repeal, the congressmen 

88 
succumbed to continuous propaganda and a sense of party loyalty. 

That loyalty did not last long; for on the same day they 

stated a desire for free silver to be included in the Democratic 

89 platform by a similar vote of eight to two. Though Cleveland 

was greatly encouraged when the Wilson Repeal bill passed the 

House by a vote of 239 to 108, he was shrewd enough to see 

the magnitude of the crisis that was approaching in the Senate. 

The Republicans had voted for sound money by a solid four 

fifths majority, the Democratic vote on free and unlimited 

. · 1 1 d. 'd d 9 o coinage of si ver was even y ivi e. 

It was against this background that Tucker took the 

most significant and controversial stand of his political career. 
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Tucker was a sound money man at heart, carrying on the con­

servative monetary policies o~ his father, though somewhat 

91 
altered. The silver question was a consistent issue of 

Tucker's first eight years in Congress, not always in the lime­

light but always the most important. Tucker was not a "gold 

bug, 11 who advocated the absolute exclusion of silver as legal 

tender. On the contrary, his record showed a consistent support 

of silver measures until the crucial year of 1896. In 1890 

Tucker sponsored "a bill to establish the free coinage of silver 

in the United States," but it failed to pass the House. 
92 

Tucker's stand on the issue became apparent on August 28, 

1893, when he voted to support President Cleveland on the 

repeal of the Sherman Silver Purchase Act. On that same day, 

however, he, along with fellow Congressman G. O. Wise, opposed 

f · 1 . f t 93 ree si ver at a ratio o en to one. Tucker and Wise 

remained in the opposition through three more votes setting 

ratios of seventeen, eighteen, and nineteen to one. Each time 

among Virginia's ten Congressmen the vote divided eight to 

two. At the vote for a ratio of twenty to one, Tucker 

h h . d f 'l 94 
c anged is vote and accepte ree si ver. congressman Wise 

95 remained a "gold bug" to the end. In 1893 the ratio of silver 

to gold was not the critical issue it later became. Congressman 

William Jennings Bryan96 explained the situation in a speech 
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he delivered in the House of Representatives August 16, 1893: 

Among those in favor of bimetallism and in favor of 
independent action on the part of the United states, 
there is, however an honest difference of opinion as 
to the ratio at which the unlimited coinage of silver 
should be undertaken. The principle of bimetallism 
does not stand upon any certain ratio but may exist 
at one to thirty as well as ·one to sixteen. 9 7 

The current issue continued to divide Grover Cleveland froo a 

large fraction of Virginia Democrats. By the congressional 

election of 1894, all political parties favored some form of 

silver coinage as a means of countering the deepening depression of 

1893.98 The Republican Party, however, naturally wanted limitations. 

Tucker openly opposed to the sixteen to one ratio but accepted 

the twenty to one ratio. He was re~lected to Congress with 

99 his position on the issue known. In 1894,Tucker and Virginia's 

other nine Congressmen voted to coin about $55,000,000 of silver 

bullion which had accumulated in the treasury. President 

Cleveland vetoed the bil~which only served to increase the 

alienation of most of Virginia's congressmen from the President. 100 

Bryan, whose presidential ambitions were well known, was one 

of Cleveland's harshest critics. To him, the money issue 

thoroughly divided the party between the silver Democrats and 

101 
Cleveland Democrats. 

The agitation for free silver took on the appearance 

of a zealous crusade as the depression deepened. William L. 
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Wilson of West Virginia, Tucker's colleague in Congress, described 

the situation with growing alarm: "I have never seen the masses 

of people so wild over a question that they know little or 

nothing about. To reason with them is as impossible as to talk 

102 down an angry cyclone." The outlook in Virginia was becoming 

bleaker with each passing month. Skepticism gave way to panic 

in Virginia business circles as land development projects from 

the early nineties began to collapse. Produce prices dropped 

to record lows with the farmers taking the brunt. of the loss. 

Wheat in Virginia went for forty-seven cents per bushel, and 

the prices for cotton and tobacco were abysmal. A shortage 

of money and credit became increasingly critical and directly 

103 
touched almost every individual in the state. All across 

Virginia there was a growing belief that silver was the 

friend of the people and a key to better times. 104 

As the election year of 1896 began, the public increas­

ingly associated fiscal conservatives such as Tucker with the 

"bankers, capitalists, monopolists and millionaires.JOS. Gold 

became a symbol of oppression, hard times and the Republicans. 

Silver seemed to be the only answer to the problems facing the 

common man. The issue gripped the Democratic party like a 

fever. It was now a widespread belief that silver provided the 

only immediate remedy to the critical shortage of currency. 
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When William Jennings Bryan used the phrase "crucified 

upon a cross of gold," he might well have applied it to Tucker's 

1896 bid for reelection. 106 In February, 1896, Congress was 

considering a bill, to "maintain and protect the coin redemption 

fund, and to authorize the issue of-certificates of indebtedness 

t t . d f' . . f 107 o mee temporary e 1c1enc1es o revenue." The bill included 

a section providing for the free and unlimited coinage of 

silver at a ratio of sixteen to one. 108 Tucker stuck to his 

former position in the face of enormous pressure from his own 

party. He told the House: 

I can not give my sanction to the bill now before the 
House .... I have been unable, with the best thought 
I could give to the subject, to bring myself to the 
conclusion that the "free and unlimited coinage of 
silver at a ratio of sixteen to one" by the United 
States under present conditions, would be of any 
benefit to the people of the country or consistent 
with good financial legislation .... Would such a 
step by the United States alone bring the value in 
the silver dollar up to par?l09 

Tucker then pointed out that the ratio of sixteen to one had been 

established.by the Government in 1836. He stressed that, 

although the ratio of sixteen to one was acceptable in 1836 

when silver had been worth $1.29 per ounce, it was no longer 

acceptable sixty years later when silver was worth only 

sixty-five cents per ounce. 111 He explained the decline of the 

value of silver by citing its demonetization in 1873 by the 

Republican partY, remarking that dozens of foreign countries 
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had soon followed suit.
111 

Tucker's argument against the ratio 

was skillful, resting solidly ~n common sense: 

If I could believe that the action of the United States 
alone would bring the intrinsic value of the silver 
dollar up to par, I should welcome it as one of the most 
important measures that could be brought to the attention 
of the American Congress. More than that, sir, I would 
vote most cheerfully, as I have done before, for any 
measure looking to the free and unlimited coinage of 
silver, with the addition of enough silver to the dollar 
to make it the equal of any other dollar. 112 

Tucker declared that the depreciation of silver made the true 

ratio closer to thirty-two to one. He argued that, if the law 

were passed, "bankruptcy and ruin would mark its adoption, and 

to every man in the country who is laboring under a load of 

debt it would be the beginning of the end. 11113 The laboring man 

would be the first to suffer. He would receive his wages in the 

depreciated dollar and his "sweat would be coined into poverty 

. . h . 114 and misery instead of comfort and appiness. 11 The farmer 

too would be paid for his crops in cheaper money. The last to 

feel the effects would be the banker, who was always able to 

take care of himself.
115 

Tucker concluded his speech with a 

sentiment that he repeated frequently in 1896 and for many 

years to come: 

I can never vote for a bill that would create one dollar 
less valuable than another, and I stand ready at all 
times to vote for any bill to legitimately increase the 
volume of currency and create a dollar which shall be 
the equal of every other dollar in the land. To do 

26 



otherwise, with my belief of the result, would be 
little short of criminality. 116 

Tucker was aware that Jlis stand on the silver issue 

placed his chances for renomination in great danger. His mail 

was full of warnings and assessments of the strength of silver 

sentiment in the counties of the tenth district. In Fincastle, 

Dr. I. R. Gordon reported that "the people are so ra:lllpant for 

free silver that I am afraid they lose sight of any other merit. 11117 

such warnings prepared Tucker for the state Democratic conven-

tion which was held in Staunton in June. 118 

The Richmond Times called the convention 11 a silver 

. l 119 carniva ." The free silver forces were led by long-time 

silverites such as U.S. Senator John W. Daniel and Congressman 

Peter T. Otey. They called for adoption of a sixteen to one 

120 platform. Senator Thomas staples Martin had previously 

supported sound money, but he too jumped on the silver bandwagon 

to save his career. At the convention, he delivered a blistering 

121 
attack that labeled Cleveland as a "party wrecker." Tucker 

followed Martin to the podium. 122 In one of the most courageous 

speeches of his career, Tucker tried desperately to defend Grover 

Cleveland against the assault of his enemies. He was the only 

Democrat to do so: "Cleveland has not upheld the course that 

has been satisfactory to me ... and I have voted against him, 

27 



but he is our man and I am not going to stand up here among 

Virginia Democrats and blackguard a man whom we elected. 11123 

Tucker acknowledged that the Democratic party was split between 

"gold bugs and silver bugs," and he implored all Democrats to 

124 stand together. There was more to democracy, he maintained, 

than gold and silver. 125 He left the stage amid the boos and 

126 hisses of the assembled delegates. The convention, "without 

waiting for the assault or concurrence of any other nations, 

demanded the free and unlimited coinage of silver at a ratio 

127 
of sixteen to one." 

Reactions to Tucker's defense of Cleveland varied widely 

in the days after the convention. Men who wrote directly to 

Tucker were usually full of praise: "I believe in free speech 

and am glad to see that you had too much guts to be hooted 

k f .d. 128 down by a pac o 1. 1.ots. 11 His unsigned friend assured him 

that "all the good men of Richmond are speaking of you today 

. h b. h f 129 
int e rig test o terms." He later remembered the reaction. 

In 1932 he told Allen Nevins that after the speech old friends 

snubbed him and former supporters shook their fists in his 

face. He had feared physical attack as he walked the streets. 130 

The weeks between his speech and the convention of the 

Democrats of the tenth district at the Amherst courthouse on 

July 30 were incredibly trying for Tucker. Most of his friends 
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. 131 
advised him that his chances for renomination were slim. 

Hal Flood's announcement of his candidacy for the congressional 

seat in the tenth district made it even less likely that Tucker 

could win renomination. Flood had ceased to support Tucker in 

the early 1890 1 s and cultivated political ambitions of his 

own ever since. The two men finally split in 1894 over the 

silver issue when Flood advocated free coinage at sixteen to 

132 
one. Flood seemed sure to ride the silver wave into Congress. 

No doubt the threatened loss of the nomination to his cousin 

caused Tucker a degree of resentment, even though relations 

between the two remained cordial. One week before the tenth 

district convention, the Democratic national convention in 

Chicago endorsed free coinage at sixteen to one and nominated 

William Jennings Bryan for president. Now Tucker faced the most 

difficult political decision of his life. He wrote to his 

father on June 29, 11 Can I now make the race consistently with 

the party? Of course I can try and run on my record, but that 

is against sixteen to one. ,, 133 

Tucker's action at Amherst Courthouse provoked the single 

greatest controversy of his career. The first official action 

of the convention was to adopt the Chicago platform of the 

National Democratic Party. Once this was completed Tucker 

appeared before the Convention. In what came to be known as 
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"the dog cart" speech, Tucker withdrew his name from consider­

ation as a nominee for Congres~. He began: "Mr. chairman and 

Fellow-Democrats of the old Tenth District: It may test your 

credulity, but I beg you to believe me when I say this is the 

proudest moment of my life .. .. 134 He declined the 

unoffered nomination and then explained his objections to the 

sixteen to one ratio. He claimed that he could not go before 

the people of Virginia and endorse free silver: 

I would despise myself if I did. How could I go and 
ask the people of this district to endorse principles 
that I do not believe in myself? They tell me to 
jump in the bandwagon and ride on it. For myself, I 
would rather ride in dog cart right than in the band­
wagon at the expense of my convictions. 135 

Loud applause accompanied Tucker as he left the stage. The 

convention then nominated Hal Flooo on the second ballot. 136 

Tucker claimed he had made a great political sacrifice to his 

personal convictions, and his former constituents agreed. 

Some wrote to Tucker, describing his stand in flowery terms: 

"Well done thou good and faithful servant of the people. You 

believed you were right and you upheld your belief .... 11137 

Others compared Tucker grandly with figures from history: 

"You have emulated the example of Pope Pius VII who declared 

138 
'I will not surrender my conscience to recover my crown.'" 

To others it was a much simpler matter: "You feel no doubt as 

I do, that we have been badly licked .. .. 139 However his 
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constituents described the situation Tucker would soon be out 

of office for the first time in eight years. 

Tucker's critics recognized that his emotional speech 

at the Amherst convention was a face saving ploy by a candidate 

who knew he did not stand a·chance. · In later years, they 

charged that had the convention nominated Tucker, he would have 

gladly accepted, the sixteen to one ratio not withstanding. 

This charge was fueled by the rumor that just prior to the 

Amherst convention, Tucker let it be known that were he nominated, 

he would stand on the Chicago platform of silver at the sixteen 

to one ratio. The charge was substantiated by a letter Charles 

H. Paxton wrote to Tucker on July 15, roughly two weeks before 

the convention at Amherst: 

Your letter received and it did me some good. I will 
be on hand Saturday since you assured me that you 
would stand on the Chicago platform ... I tell the 
silver men that is all they could ask .... 140 

Paxton's le~ter suggests that Tucker was indeed prepared to 

accept the ratio of sixteen to one silver at the last minute, 

if that were the price of retaining his seat. It is impossible 

to be sure that Charles Paxton understood Tucker correctly. One 
a 

reference to/conversation that may never have occurred cannot 

erase Tucker's firm stand of three years. But it does suggestthat 

the.char.ges may not have been entirely without substance. Whether 

true or false, Tucker was forced to defend his actions for the 
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rest of his political career. 

Critics later charged that Tucker bolted the Democratic 

party after his Amherst speech and refused to support the party 

in the election of 1896. This claim is totally without sub­

stance. Tucker supported the party in 1896, and voted for both 

. 141 
William Jennings Bryan and his successor Hal Flood. On the 

same day he withdrew from the race, he cabled Bryan: "As you 

and I once carried William L. Wilson out on our shoulders in 

triumph, we will put our shoulders together again to carry 

McKinley out to his burial this fall. 11142 Tucker sent Bryan 

other notes of encouragement throughout the fall, and repeatedly 

tried to arrange for the presidential candidate to speak at 

Staunton. 143 He also maintained a good relationship with the 

144 
state and national Democratic organizations. He even took 

to the stump late in the campaign to speak on "the well known 

lines of Democratic policy, 11145 and earned a note of thanks 

from Flood. 146 

In November William McKinley thoroughly defeated Bryan. 

Jacob Yost soundly beat Flood as well and reclaimed the tenth 

district for the Republican party. 147 Tucker himself began an 

eight year absence from active participation in Democratic 

politics as a result of his disillusionment. 
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CHAPTER II 

THE INTERMEDIATE YEARS 

In March of 1897 Tucker retired from Congress with 

vague plans of returning to legal practice. In April, two 

events occurred at Washington and Lee University which changed 

his plans: the Board of Trustees named William L. Wilson as 

President of the University, and John Randolph Tucker, professor 

148 of law, passed away. The Board of Trustees offered Tucker his 

father's position which he irrimediately accepted. In the summer 

of 1897 Tucker moved from Staunton to Lexington where he 
. 149 

purchased a large home known as "Col Alto." For the next 

three years the new professor of Constitutional Law and Equity 

concerned himself with his students, with making plans for 

a memorial hall to his father on campus, and to editing a 

finished manuscript left by his father entitled Tucker on the 

Constitution. The latter was published in 1899. 150 In 1900 

President William Wilson died suddenly and Tucker was made 

acting President of the University until a replacement could 

be found the following year. In 1900, Tucker's first wife, 

H . l d 151 enrietta a so passe away. 

In 1901 Tucker's excellence as an educator was acknow­

ledged when the Conference on Southern Education took note 

of his fine work at Washington and Lee. In 1901 the Conference 

established the Southern Educational Board and appointed Tucker 
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and Dr. Robert Frazer, president of the Virginia State Normal 

School, its Virginia represent~tives. 152 The movement for improved 

~~uthern education was just gaining momentum. In 1898 Robert 

C. Ogden had established the Conference of Education. 153 

Ogden, a wealthy merchant from New Yo.rk, was deeply interested 

in promoting the-cause of education in the South. His driving 

enthusiasm prompted the cause to take its name from him: "the 

Ogden Movement." This movement was an admirable and successful 

effort to better educational conditions in the South. Its 

emphasis on cooperation between North and South did much to 

heal old war wounds. The movement advocated education for 

every southern child, black and white. Ogden, however, 

realized that if he insisted on racial integration in southern 

schools he would destroy the movement. Tucker served as its 

Virginia representative for two years, making speeches and 

d . f b d . . h h 154 
rumming up support or etter e ucation int e Sout. 

Toward the end of his l_ife, Tucker remembered his association 

with Ogden with fondness; even though it later became a 

1 .. 1 1· b'l't 155 po 1t1ca 1a 1 1 y. 

In 1903 Tucker accepted the position of Dean of the 

Department of Law and Jurisprudence at Columbia University 

. h. 156 . d h . . · 1 1905 157 in Was ington, D.C. He retaine t e position unti . 

In 1903 Tucker also remarried. His second wife was Martha 

Sharpe of Wilkes-Barre, Pennsylvania.
158 

Tucker also served 

as President of the American Bar Association from 1904 to 1905. 159 
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Outside the world of academia, Tucker was appointed 

as President of the Jamestown TFicentenial Exposition in 

1-905. The Exposition at Hampton Roads was a huge celebration 

to honor the three hundredth anniversary of the founding of 

the Jamestown settlement. Agitation .for such an event had 

begun as early as 1900. The Association for the Preservation 

of Virginia Antiquities sponsored the project. In 1902 the 

association formed a company, with Fitzhugh Lee as President, 

to raise funds and make plans for the festivities in 1907. 160 

Lee died in 1905, however, and President Theodore Roosevelt 

. d k h' 161 appointe Tue er is successor. For the next two years 

Tucker traveled all over the world as a goodwill ambassador and 

President of the Exposition. He visited such dignitaries as King 

Edward VII of England in his endeavors to win friends and 

financial backing for the project. 162 Though Tucker did his 

best for two years, the project was unsuccessful from the 

start. Its location was relatively inaccessible and attendance 

was poor. It was subsequently placed in the hands of receivers 

a month after it closed in 1907. For his part, Tucker had 

163 made an admirable attempt to finish a job started by another. 

The next chapter in the political career of Henry St. 

George Tucker deals with his ardent bid for the D.emocratic 

gubernatorial nomination in 1909. This was the first of his 

two unsuccessful bids for governor; the second occurred in 1921. 

At the turn of the century, the Republican party had 
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ceased to be a serious political contender in Virginia. As 

Beverty Tucker phrased it, The.Republicans in Virginia ... 

were as scarce as hen's teeth in that day. 164 The ninth 

congressional district of the Southwest remained their only 

. . . f h ld 165 Virginia oot o . With;out a serious threat from the 

Republicans the action centered on factional fights within 

the Democratic party between the organization or "machine" of 

Senator.Thomas S. Martin and the independent Democrats whose 

166 nominal chief was Governor Andrew Jackson Montague. 

Harry St. George Tucker was solidly in the independent camp 

as always. Tom Martin was a true power in Virginia politics 

in these years and would prove an overpowering enemy of Harry 

Tucker in 1909. Martin, as an unknown, had defeated the 

d · h h 167 f h f 1893 seasone Fitz ug Lee or t e senate race o in a 

168 dramatic upset. In the same year, "boss" John S. Barbour, 

the first organizer and undisputed leader of the Democratic 

machine in Virginia, died. The reins soon fell to 

. . . . 169 
Senator Martin where they had firmly remained ever since. 

Andrew Jackson Montague, on the other hand, had captured the 

governor's chair in. 1901 on a progressive and independent 

Democratic ticket. He advocated such reform measures as better 

roads, education for every child, labor reform and, most 

importantly, the provision for a party primary in which the 

170 people could be directly represented. The machine naturally 

opposed those progressive measures. As an independent governor, 
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Montague was thoroughly harassed by the machine-controlled 

t t 1 . 1 t d ld 11 h' 1· 1 l?l s a e egis a ure an cou actua y ac ieve very itt e. 

So it went in Virginia until 1905 when the battle 

reached a climax that would determine political sovereignty 

in the state for many years to come. The culmination of the 

struggle was the 1905 senatorial race172 in which Martin 

thoroughly defeated Montague to gain a nearly complete ascendancy 

in the state. 173 This was coupled with the gubernatorial 

defeat of the temperance candidate, Judge William Hodges Mann, 

by the machine candidate, Claude A. Swanson. 174 

In 1909, the year Harry St. George Tucker finally 

decided to re-enter politics, the situation stood thus: 

In the U.S. Congress the Martin machine could claim seven seats, 

while the independent Democrats were represented by Carter Glass 

and William A. Jones and the Republicans by Bascom Slemp from 

the ninth district. In Virginia, the organization had the 

governorship and uncontested control of both houses of the 

175 General Assembly. At the outset, four men announced their 

candidacy for the Democratic gubernatorial primary: Judge 

William Hodges Mann, Henry St. George Tucker, Carter Glass 

and Henry C. Stuart. By February Glass and Stuart had with­

drawn. Glass and Mann were both renowned temperance men. 

When it became public knowledge that Mann would carry the 

support of the Anti-Saloon League of Virginia and its powerful 

leader, the Reverend James Cannon Jr., Glass felt offended 

d . h . h d 1 f b' 176 an wit drew from the·race wit a great ea o itterness. 
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Stuart, nephew of the famed J.E. B. Stuart, had announced 

his candidacy before Tucker. S~uart, an Abingdon man, shared 

Tucker's independent Democratic status. His base of support 

was virtually the same as Tucker's, thus necessitating a 

withdrawal from the race and a unite4 independent front to 

challenge the machine. Stuart obliged, citing his wife's 

ill health and his need for a trip abroad. 177 Tucker returned 

the favor in 1913 and Stuart secured the governor's seat un-

178 opposed. By March, therefore, the race became a solid two 

way confrontation between Harry St. George Tucker and his 

opponent Judge William Hodges Mann. 

The man who defeated Harry Tucker in 1909 was a formidable 

political adversary indeed. In the 1~05 governor's race he 

had received the second largest vote without the official 

endorsement of either faction of the Democratic party. His 

appeal had been noted by the machine men and even then he 

179 was spoken of as a probable contender for the 1909 race. 

Hailing from Nottoway, Judge Mann, had no formal education, 

but rose to the position of a lawyer and then was elected 

the first County Judge of Nottoway as a young man of twenty-

180 seven. After twenty-two years of "esteemed" service on 

the bench with only two decisions reversed, Judge Mann voluntarily 

retired in 1892. He was a beloved man, a distinguished ex-
-, . 

Confederate soldier, an elder of the Presbyterian Church and 

a life-long supporter of the Prohibition movement in all of 
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its stages. 181 "A bearded Virginia gentleman with a kindly 

manner and a cherubic face 11 , 182 he was the Democratic party 

leader in the state senate, and by 1909 a faithful supporter 

of Senator Thomas Martin, Congressman Hal Flood, and the 

organization Democrats. The organization had denied him 

its full support, however, primarily because of his reputation 

as a militant "dry". 183 This, then, was Harry Tucker's opponent 

in 1909 and the next governor of Virginia. 

In 1909, therefore, the election was won in the primary. 

Whichever candidate secured the Democratic nomination was a 

certain winner against whomever the Republicans might present 

as a token candidate in the election. To the entrenched 

machine and the hungry independents of the Democratic party, 

the stakes were high and the rivalry far from friendly. It 

was only after the primary that the Democrats closed ranks 

and presented a unified front to defeat the Republicans. As 

Beverly Tucker put it, "stump speaking between two intra­

democratic factions was an event ano often tinged with bitter­

ness.11184 Bitter is indeed the best word to describe the 

primary battle of Harry St. George Tucker and William Hodges 

Mann. The 1909 race at times took on the unfortunate quality 

of a mudslinging campaign between the two men. This was 

distasteful in the eyes of the press which considered Virginia 

politics as something lofty and somehow above it all. However, 

the accusations and attacks on Tucker's record serve to shed 
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some light on incidents that might have otherwise faded into 

obscurity. It is in this manner that the personal and "dirty" 

aspect of the Iemocratic primary of 1909 becomes historically 

priceless. 

In a close primary in which the two Democratic candidates 

shared roughly t~e same stand on the issues, the temptation 

to attack one another in vulnerable spots was indeed tempting. 

Harry Tucker, as the underdog, certainly came in for his share 

in 1909. This is not to suggest that he was above striking 

back with force by any means. He was repeatedly criticized 

for his refusal to leave personal attacks out of a "friendly" 

Democratic rivalry. The VirginianPilot described the two 

candidates as "independent bushwackers, shooting pots and 

kettles at each other to the detriment and best interests of 

h • f • • , II 185 t e Democratic party o Virginia. The editor henceforth 

refused to support_either candidate. 

Harry Tucker's most vulnerable point was his celebrated 

bolt from the Democratic party in 1896. It will be remembered 

that on July 30th at the 1896 Amherst convention, Tucker 

announced that he would not allow his name to be put forward 

as a candidate for renomination for the congressional seat 

in the tenth district. In his 11d09 cart" speech, he attributed 

his decision to the unacceptability of the Democratic party's 

platform plank of supporting the free ratio of silver at a 

sixteen to one ratio of gold. 186 The congressional nomination 
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went to Tucker's cousin, Hal D. Flood, with full machine 

support. Thus in 1896 began Tucker's "absence from the 

house of his fathers" which was to haunt him in Democratic 

politics from that time on. 

Judge Mann and his supporters- naturally played this 

issue up in 1909~ They openly questioned Tucker's loyalty 

to the Democratic party. Many Virginia newspapers shared 

Mann's position, and one described Tucker's actions in 1896: 

The Register has therefore shown that Mr. Tucker 
had made an active canvas for delegates and 
strenuo~sly sough~ to secure renomination after 
all the world knew that the Democratic party, state 
and national, was absolutely committed to the free 
and unlimited coinage of silver at the ratio of 16 
to 1. It was not until the night before the Amherst 
Convention which nominated Flood, that Mr. Tucker after 
a count of noses, realized that he was a beaten man, 
and it was then that he made his speech of renunciation 
upon which he now so plumes himself for his courage and 
fidelity to convicfion.187 

Unfortunately for ~ucker, this memory of events thirteen years 

ago was widely remembered across the state. One paper tersely 

stated, "if he had secured delegates enough to have nominated 

him, he would have b~en only too glad to have accepted the 

nomination. 11188 As he campaigned in 1909, Judge Mann attempted 

to prove that Tucker showed "no Democratic enthusiasm11189 from 

the time of his defeat in 1896 until the Parker campaign of 

1904, when he was a ~emocratic elector for his state. 190 

Judge Mann even suggested that after "sulking in his tent11191 

through the remainder of the convention, Tucker betrayed his 
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party by lukewarm support of Hal Flood and William Jennings 

Bryan and by actually encouraging the opposition. Mann 

claimed he had permitted his Congressional frank to be used 

to circulate Republican campaign literature. 192 The severity 

of the damage done to Tucker's political career by these 

revelations was most severe. It seems that the merest hint 

of an anti-Democratic spirit was enough to ruin a man. 

Tucker went to great lengths to persuade the voters of 

Virginia of the inaccuracy of these reports and of his utmost 

loyalty to the Democratic party. He told the voters that the 

nomination of 1896 had been his and that his convictions would 

not let him accept it because of his well known anti-silver 

stand. He prided himself on this great sacrifice to principle, 

and attempted to clear his record in an open letter to Judge 

Mann published in The Richmond News Leader: 

Your attempt to show my party disloyalty in 1896 
is indeed futile. That I voted the party ticket 
in 1896 has not been denied. Second, that I spoke 
for the party ticket in 1896 has not been denied. 
Third, that the people of Vi~ginia appreciated and 
understood my position in that fight was known to 
every man who was at the state convention in Staunton 
in June 1896. I bok my position then and maintained 
it during my whole canvas, and in 1904, eight years 
later, the Democrats assembled in convention in 
Richmond, nominated me by a 300 majority over my 
nearest competitor as one of the electors at large 
(and you doubtlessly voted for me) and when the 
results came in I had the largest vote of any man 
on the ticket. Am I correct in assuming that you 
voted for me?193 
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Tucker made much of his position as an elector-at-large in 

1904. In his view it served as. a justification of his place 

in the Democratic party. An elector was certainly a true 

Democrat. He saw no reason why his loyalty should be questioned 

in 1909 when his good standing in the_ party had been confirmed 

in Richmond five.years earlier. Many newspapers were unconvinced, 

however, and cited Tucker's failure to speak for the party from 

1896 to 1904, during his "retirment". One paper sneered that 

it was only in 1904 that "the political bee had again begun 

194 
to buzz in Mr. Tucker's ear 11

, and it wondered "whether 

his campaigning was done for the Democratic party or for Harry 

195 
Tucker." Tucker's "absence from the house of his fathers" 

was the major controversy of his career and returned to haunt 

him in 1909 and for the rest of his political life. 

As if his 1896 actions were not enough, Tucker also 

found himself explaining his role as President of the Jamestown 

Tercentenial Exposition of 1907. Upon appointment, Tucker 

had received a salary of ten thousand dollars to serve as the 

president of the Exposition. At the end of the Exposition, 

the organization was placed in receivership. This was in no 

way the fault of Harry St. George Tucker. For his opponents, 

however, it made excellent ammunition in the mudslinging 

campaign. One newspaper sarcastically listed thirteen reasons 

why Tucker should be the next governor of Virginia: 
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Because he served the Jamestown Exposition as 
president at a salary of $10,000 a year, and ran 
it into the hands of receivers. Because he is 
now counsel for the receivers of the Jamestown 
Exposition and will eventually get a good big 
fee for assisting in winding up affairs of a con­
cern that went to smash under his mismanagement.196 

To blame Tucker for the financial woes of the Exposition was 

undoubtedly unfair, as he in no way managed its finances. 

His critics do point out a serious conflict of interest in 

his dual positions as president and later as paid counsel for 

the receivers. They suggested that he had profited from his 

own previous ineptness as president. This certainly seems 

an unfortunate move on Tucker's part, considering his desire 

to continue in politics in those years. 

Unlike what happened at the time of his break with 

the Democratic party in 1896, much of the press rallied to 

Tucker's defense in 1907. This was especially true in the 

Tidewater area where the Exposition was located. Newspapers 

there recalled what they considered Tucker's excellent ser­

vice in winning the cooperation of American and foreign states, 

and as one said, "discharged with remarkable faithfulness 

a routine of ceremonial duties which would have broken the 

health of most men. They asserted that Tucker 

was "never understood to be the business manager of the 

E . . II 19 8 d h I I • • 11 k h ).,1 XpOSltlon, an tat lt lS We nown tat 1vr. 

Tucker's expenditures while President of the Exposition 

198 far exceeded his salary". Though meant to cast asper-

sions on his managerial abilities, the Jamestown Exposition issue 
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did Judge Mann more harm than it did Tucker; it evoked the 

sympathy of Tidewater voters for the victim of unfair 

harassment. Tucker himself offered the best explanation of 

his function in those years, and cast a good deal of light 

on his activities from 1905-1907: 

One simple fact is sufficient to show that I was not 
employed by the Exposition Company to manage its 
business affairs. It is this - by the terms of my 
employment I was to undertake to get the appropriations 
from Congress, the participation of the states of the 
Union, and the representatioTu.of foreign countries 
at the Exposition. This would necessarily keep me 
from Norfolk a large part of my time, and could not 
have undertaken work that required me to be at 
Norfolk constantly, as to the business side of the 
Exposition exacted .•.. 200 

Tucker was not the innocent victim of a campaign to 

discredit his past actions. Instead, he was a seasoned, tough 

and sometimes dirty fighter. Tucker questioned Mann's con­

sistency on the Prohibition question, and cast aspersions on 

Mann's relations with Senator Thomas Martin and the liquor 

. t t 201 in eres s. Tucker was the more brutal and dirty fighter 

in 1909. His position as the underdog no doubt had much to 

do with his campaign strategy. He refused to stick to the 

issues in spite of exhortations that he conduct a more 

dignified race. The Bristol Herald Carrier lamented, "He 

has so far conducted his campaign, not upon the record of 

his own merits and qualifications, but upon allegations of 

h . d ' t " 2 O 2 Th . t h s ortcomings on Ju ge Manns par. is seems o ave 

been the over all flavor of the campaign although both candidates 
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protested to be acting only in self defense. The overriding 

consensus concerning Harry Tucker seems to have been that 

had his speeches dealt more with his own claims and less 

with insinuations against his opponent they would have in 

203 
all probability gained more votes. 

Another issue which stirred up some controversy and 

no doubt lost votes for Tucker involved a "faked" news story 

favorable to Tucker. Coming from The Richmond Times Dispatch, 

the story was carried by many newspapers: 

Gubernatorial Fight Warms Up ... Tucker grows strong ... 
Surprising strength in the Fourth, Seventh, and 
Ninth districts--Stuart's supporters rallying to him-­
the 'machine' seems split wide open.20 4 

Upon examination it seems clear that if all the article claimed 

was true then Judge Mann would stand absolutely no chance of 

1 . 205 e ection. The claims that Tucker would carry Mann's own 

fourth district and that "the Stuart supporters have arrayed 

themselves under the Tucker standard," smack more of campaign 

literature than of unbiased election coverage. This, as it 

turns out is exactly what the situation was. The story was 

paid for by Tucker•s supporters which was in some manner 

masqueraded as a bona fide news story. There is nothing to 

link this directly to Tucker other than Judge Mann's accusation: 

You were publishing in the newspapers, stories in 
reference to your strength, that are not true and 
which, although they purport to be news stories, 
are really prepared by you ... I have in my possession 
written proof, which cannot be denied as to a 'faked' 
story that recently appeared in 31 county newspapers. 206 

46 



This is not to suggest that such trivial matters were of 

primary importance in Tucker's campaign or that they were 

anywhere near as harmful to him as his "absence from the 

house of his fathers." Such illustrations serve merely as 

indicators that "dirty tricks" politics were nothing new in 

1909. 

-

The campaign of 1909 was not fought solely on a personal 

level. As Democrats, both Harry Tucker and Judge Mann adhered 

to the same political doctrines, although they did disagree 

about a number of issues .. For instance, compulsory education 

was very much on the minds of the voters that year. Unfortunately 

for Tucker, his past once again supplied ample ammunition for 

a hostile machine. Tucker's employment with Robert C. Ogden 

and the other northern educational philanthropists of the 

"Ogden Movement" has previously been dealt with. The sig­

nificance of Tucker's 1902 employment for his gubernatorial 

bid seven years later lies in the hostile light in which his 

adversaries were able to place him on this issue. The Ogden 

Movement had stressed the need to educate all Southern children 

f b h b 
. . 207 o ot races, ut not integration. No matter how delicately 

handled, however, laws providing for compulsory education and 

for the education of Negroes were sore issues in Virginia. 

Seven years after his Ogden connection the forces opposed to 

Tucker were able to cast unsavory aspersions on his association 

with Ogden: 
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Mr. Tucker in the past has had some sort of connection 
with the Ogden educational movement. This was a move, 
upon the part of a man named Ogden, and other rich men 
of New York, who, with more money than brains, conceived 
the idea that the people of the South were incapable 
of deal~ng with the question of educating the children 
of the South. And it was this party of Northern money 
bags who first started this asinine talk of compulsory 
education, concluding, in their ignorance that the 
people of the South were unable to deal with the all 
important question of education for their children. 
Therefore, they decided that what Southern fathers 
and mothers needed was a law which would force them 
to send their children to schoo1. 208 

Judge Mann and his machine supporters opposed a 

education law in any form, as contrary to Democratic principle. 

Tucker, unfortunately, handled his pronouncements on compulsory 

education in a manner which did more harm than the Exponent's 

editorial. On the twelfth of February in an early campaign 

speech in Nansemond County Tucker said, "I approve the law 

enacted by the last General Assembly making optional compulsory 

education. The man who has children and don't send them to 

school ought to be·made to send them. Ignorance, which breeds 

vice, is just as 'ketchin' as small pox. 11209 In April, when 

questioned by The Culpepper Exponent on how he would vote on 

a compulsory education election in his home county Tucker took 

the opposite stand: 

At the present time I would vote against it. It is 
a condition that confronts us and not a theory, and 
the conditions in Virginia are such that as Governor 
of the State, I would veto a state-wide compulsory 
education bill. 210 

The March editorials and Judge Mann's use of the issue no doubt 

accounted for the discrepancies between Tucker's February and 
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April stands on the education issue. This cost him dearly, 

especially in the rural counties where the opposition to 

compulsory education was strongest. 

As vital an issue as the education question was, 

however, it was soon eclipsed by the major theme of the 1909 

primary: the liquor question. Without a doubt, the all 

encompassing issue of the 1909 race was Prohibition. Here 

the candidates took radically different stands on the issues. 

To attain a proper perspective on the Prohibition 

issue in 1908 it is essential to examine the primary from a 

broader perspective as, indeed, Prohibition was a nationwide 

issue. In 1909 it was certainly nothing new in state politics. 

Temperance sentiment had always been strong in Virginia; but 

efforts at Prohibition had been sporadic and unsuccessful 

prior to the turn of the century. In 1900, however, Prohibition 

began to "sweep across the Southl~nd like a fever. 11211 By 

1909 the prohibition zeal had engulfed Oklahoma, Alabama, 

212 
Georgia, Mississippi, North Carolina and Tennessee. The 

prime mover of this tidal wave of reform was the Anti-Saloon 

League of America, founded nationally in 1895. 213 Its motive 

was clear and simple: destruction of the saloon, that "menace 
' 

to the church of God, blight upon civilization, wrecker of 

d f 1 h 1 h d h . ..214 homes, and estroyer o ·heat, wea t an appiness .... 

With fanatical devotion and increasingly effective organization 

the league pressed for eventual Prohibition all across the 

South. On March 12, 1901 the Anti-Saloon League of Virginia 
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t bl . h d t th S d .. h h · · 215 was es a is e a e econ Baptist C urc in Richmond. 

Prior to this time the Virginia temperance forces were weak 

d d . . d 210 an isorganize. The Anti-Saloon League strove to unite 

all of Virginia's "dry" interests into a common front. In 

1903 the General Assembly passed the Mann Bill which closed 

nearly five hund~ed saloons in rural Virginia. 217 Using the 

tools of local option, legislative enactment, and local 

restrictions the league began winning its battle. From 1900 

to 1909 the state's saloons decreased from 1,795 to only 742 

and the number of dry counties increased from twenty-seven to 

eighty-six. The League maintained that it was not involved in 

1 · · b II • • II 218 po itics ut was omnipartisan. In 1905 the League resolved 

to make it "impossible for any man to be elected to public 

219 office who favors the licensed saloon." By the time the 

1908 state convention met, its demands had escalated even 

further. Although_ it officially endorsed local option once 

. ~t 1 ~t ld 1 hrb• · 220 
again~ was c ear~ wou soon endorse tota pro i ition. 

In 1908, Senator Thomas Staples Martin was still boss 

of the powerful Democratic machine in Virginia. The current 

governori Claude Swanson, was a firm Martin supporter, but 

the 1909 election was fast approaching and Martin was anxious 

to find a suitable replacement. 

Martin had extremely close ties to the state's liquor 

interests. 221 Judge Mann was the state's most ardent advocate 

of temperance. Conflict seemed inevitable. Congressman Hal 
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-Flood, a close friend of both Mann and Martin, brought the 

two men together. By 1907 Martin had made up his mind to 

endorse Judge Mann as the strongest candidate available. 

His task was formidable: to keep his organization behind 

Mann, even though Mann was the sworn enemy of the liquor 

interest on which Martin's strength was heavily based. 222 

Martin's support of Judge Mann serves as a true indicator 

of the depths of the animosity between Tucker and Martin. 

Ideologically speaking, Tucker was a far more likely candidate 

for Martin's support in an election conducted primarily on 

the liquor question. Martin preferred splitting his machine 

to seeing Tucker become governor. Although he was confident 

of his political strength, Martin confided to Flood, "It will 

not be an easy matter to get our friends together for him 

[Mann]. 11223 In a series of meetings that occurred throughout 

1907 and 1908 between Mann, Martin, Flood and other machine 

Democrats, the dilemma was discussed. Martin stressed that 

it was imperative for Mann to take as "conservative" a stand 

on the liquor question as possible. At some point, Mann assured 

Martin "in the most unmistakable terms 11224 that he was opposed 

to prohibition. This was all Martin needed; Martin and Flood 

devoted their time to keeping the reluctant liquor interests 

in line. In spite of the grave doubts of many of Martin's 

men, he and Flood placed the organization at Mann's disposal. 225 

Equally as important was the need for Mann's allies, the Anti­

Saloon League to act cautiously. If it did not, Martin's "wet" 
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supporters might rebel and Harry Tucker might receive the 

nomination. 226 The coalition was successful in keeping Harry 

Tucker from the governor's chair. 

Tucker's support was minimal and scattered. He was opposed 

the Martin machine in general and to his cousin, Hal Flood, in 

particular. His strength came from the independent Democratic 

factions across the state and other anti-machine men such as 

ex-Governor A. J. Montague who believed that "Tucker will not 

make a great or brilliant governor," but he at least would not 

b d . t d b " th . d . d t h . " 2 2 7 e omina e y is very amaging an corrup mac ine •.. 

At first, Tucker hoped to avoid the liquor question, but soon 

felt compelled to make a statement to gain support. He opposed 

Prohibition, favored local option, and supported "all sound 

Temperance legislation". This was a cautious position, aimed 

228 at both wets and drys. 

In February of 1909, the true test of the Martin-Mann 

alliance arrived. The Anti-Saloon League held its state 

convention in Norfolk. If it came out for Prohibition, the 

Mann candidacy was ruined. Judge Mann was vice-president of 

the league. 229 The "wet" factions of Martin's machine would 

be forced to support Tucker. The decision lay in the hands 

of one man, the Reverend James Cannon, Jr. Cannon, the "Dry 

Messiah'1
,

230 was the driving force behind the League. Cannon's 

word was law. His recommendations on policy were invariably 

adopted. Martin, therefore, knew that it was imperative for 

Bishop Cannon to recommend a continuation of the local option 
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during the coming year in his report to the League. Mann 

approached Cannon and at last convinced him that the time 

was not ripe for Prohibition. The League reaffirmed its 

policy of local option for another year; Martin and Flood 

were greatly encouraged. The political significance of Martin's 

victory was not lost on the public at large. The editor of 

the South Hill Enterprise wryly remarked, "we have been in 

poltiics long enough to spot a game of politics when we see 

it, and if there was ever a nice, sleek game of politics 

pulled off it was that by Mann and Cannon at Norfolk. 11231 The 

deed seemed to sew up the race for Mann. Tucker, however, 

refused to concede. In his opening campaign speech at the 

Richmond Academy of Music on February 24, 1909, Tucker hit 

hard at the issue of state-wide Prohibition, hoping to force 

Judge Mann to do the same: 

Should an election for state-wide Prohibition be held 
in the near future, I would vote wet. Should a local 
option election be held in my home town [Lexington], 
which is a college town and where there are naturally 
many young men, I will vote dry. Should Lexington 
grow to be a great city, with large, progressive 
and varied interests, and a local option election is 232 called, I would be prepared to be governed by conditions. 

This was an obvious politican's ploy to please both sides. It 

no doubt annoyed many who heard it but it did raise the issue 

of state-wide Prohibition. Tucker was astute enough to realize 

that once his position was known Judge Mann would be forced to 

discuss the issue. As the weeks passed and the pressure mounted, 

Judge Mann concluded that he could not hide behind the League's 

support for local option much longer. The voters, dubious 
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of Mann's connections with the Martin machine, wanted to know 

his stand on the issue. Tucker. finally prodded Mann into 

discussing the subject during a joint debate in April at 

Boydton. Mann faced the problem far more squarely than Tucker: 

I will vote dry in any state-wide or local option 
election ... and while it may not seem technically 
consistent it is consistent with my life. I cannot 
vote for the saloon. I am goinq to advocate local 
option in every way that I can but if the majority 
of the people force the state-wide issue on me -
I hope the situation won't come - I am going to vote 
dry.234 

Mann's remarks badly confused the voters. The Martin organization 

had assured them that, although the judge was a temperance man, 

he would vote against state-wide prohibition. Tucker was 

elated, and Martin was astonished. In a letter to Flood, 

Martin exclaimed, ''It is, of course, useless for me to undertake 

to describe the way I felt when I saw he had declared a purpose 

to vote for the thing he had assured me he was distinctly 

opposed to. It does seem impossible to me for him to have been 

sincere in his previous declarations if it is his purpose to 

vote for state-wide Prohibition the first chance he gets. 11235 

In the heat of the campaign, William Hodges Mann had showed 

his true convictions. The damage to his campaign was minimal. 

Martin was able to hold the liquor interests behind him. 

Tucker was perplexed at Mann's continued strength, but 

he fully understood what he was dealing with. Tom Martin had 

pulled strings and "passed the word down the line. 11236 In 
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his canvass, Tucker found the liquor men consistent in their 

support for Mann. They told him that Martin took care of 

them and they had to reciprocate. It was a simple rule of 

political life, and one which frustrated Tucker throughout 

his career as an independent Democrat. A. J. Montague 

deftly summerized the situation; Judge Mann, he said, was 

"the candidate of one of the most remarkable combinations 

ever made in the politics of this state - running as a 

temperance man and supported by the machine saloon influence. 11237 

Tucker was aware that this "remarkable combination" spelled 

certain defeat for his candidacy but he refused to concede. 

With little to lose, Tucker launched into a vicious assault 

against his enemies. He accused Judge Mann of joining an 

"unholy alliance" between the temperance forces and the whiskey 

interests. All across the state, Tucker tried to expose the 

shady coalition. In the Richmond Times Dispatch, Tucker 

explained: 

Judge Mann is held up in Virginia as the only original 
simon pure temperance man ... but I want to tell you that 
the leaders of the liquor element of the cities are 
supporting him •... Judge Mann says he has never 
approached the whiskey leaders. Well, then, somebody 

·has done so in his behalf, for in the cities they 
are forhirn ... they are supporting him with some idea 
of restitution .... The attempt has been made to put 
the whiskey people and the temperance people in the 
same bed, but it won't do. One will kick the other out.

238 

Again and again Tucker hammered at the accusation that Mann had 

made some sort of sinister deal. In a speech delivered in April 

in Reedville, he depicted the alliance as an "unholy communion" 
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at a wedding. Judge Mann was the groom, his bride was the 

church, and the father giving her away was W.R. Boss (Whiskey 

Ring Boss). Tucker depicted himself as the gallant gentleman 

who prevented the unholy ceremony. Unfortunately the tactic 

backfired; Tucker was accused of sac~ilege. 239 Undaunted, 

Tucker continued.his accusations until Judge Mann became 

exasperated, and wrote to Tucker in an attempt to clear the 

air; "I say positively and emphatically that no such deal has 

been made by me or by any one for me ... and that none will be 

made .... I again deny your charge and call for your proof, and 

if you cannot product it, you should publicly withdraw your 

charge. 11240 Tucker's refusal to drop the charge engendered 

real bitterness between the two men. For all his efforts, 

Tucker could not bring down the coalition that had formed 

against him. His repeated attempts to cause a rift between 

Mann and Martin failed. A letter from Hal Flood to Senator 

Martin show just how thorough the machine opposing Harry St. 

George Tucker was. It also serves as an excellent reminder 

of just how far from the speaker's platform the campaign is 

sometimes won. Congressman Hal Flood again enters the picture. 

It seems he hinted strongly to the current Virginia governor, 

Claude A. Swanson, that should Mann fail to carry Swanson's 

home district, the chances of the governor's receiving an appoint­

ment to the U.S. Senate, in the event of a vacancy, were slim 

at best. "He knew what I meant," Flood wrote to Martin, "and 

he promised to pack [his] grip and leave on the next train. 11241 
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In the light of such organization Harry Tucker must certainly 

be admired for the persistence he consistently showed in opposing 

the machine. 

The vote itself was anticlimatic. On August 5, 1909, 

Judge William Hodges Mann won the nom~nation by a majority of 

5,078 votes. 242 rhe Judge received a popular vote of 27,849 

to Tucker's 22,771. 243 In a breakdown of the ten districts 

Tucker took only four: the first district with 2,672 to 2,597, 

the third with 4,541 to 3,165, the eighth with 2,439 to 1,772 

and his own tenth district with 2,959 to 1,811. Mann received 

comfortable majorities in the second, fourth through seventh 

d h . h d. . 244 an t e nint istricts. In the wet cities of Alexandria, 

Portsmouth and Richmond, the Judge had shown solid strength. 

To Martin's credit, he had also carried the 11 soaking--wet" 

f lk b . 245 Nor o ya two to one margin. 

Following qis 1909 defeat, Tucker immersed himself in 

private life, even though he remained active in the Democratic 

Party. In 1913 he vigorously supported his friend, Woodrow 

Wilson, for the Presidency. As a result, his name was widely 

suggested in the state press for a cabinet position in the 

. d I d . . t. 246 new Presi ent s a ministra ion. Tucker's support transcended 

state lines, both Senator John Sharpe Williams of Mississippi 

and Senator George E. Chamberlain or Oregon, two highly prominent 

Democrats, supported him. They went to Trenton, New Jersey, 

and personally recommended Tucker to Wilson.
247 

A cabinet 
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position, however, never materialized. The following year, 

Tucker again considered making~ race for the Governorship 

but never seriously entered the contest. Henry c. Stuart, 

formerly an independent, but now assimilated into the ranks of 

248 the organization, secured the office ~nopposed. 

Tucker devoted his time during these years to his 

health problems and his two literary endeavors. In 1915 he 

published his first book, Limitations on the Treaty-Making 

Power under the Constitution of the United States. In· this 

work Tucker set out the limits of the treaty making power. 

True to form, he maintained that the power could not be superior 

to the Constitution itself and that the President and the 

Senate had no authority to make treaties which would ultimately 

249 affect the country like a Constitutional change. In 1915 

Tucker also underwent the first of his several operations for 

cataracts. His £ailing eyesight had been causing him a great 

deal of discomfort. 250 He was plagued by poor eyesight for 

the rest of his life. In 1916, Tucker published his second 

work, Woman's Suffrage by Constitutional Amendment. He did not 

argue for or against the proposed Seventeenth Amendment granting 

women the right to vote, but instead discussed the powers of 

the State and Federal governments under the ~onstitution. 

Tucker saw the proposed.amendment as an attempt to break down 

the equilibrium between the two. Reviews pronounced his 

1 . . f f · 1 251 argument va 1.d, and his per ormance ut1. e .. 
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In 1920, at the age of sixty-nine, Tucker decided 
to 

actively/ reenter politics. On February 27, 1920;i in a letter to 

State Senator Thomas H. Do.wning, he announced his candidacy for 

the 1921 gubernatorial primary a full eighteen months in advance. 2 52 

Tucker's race for the governor's seat is highly reminiscent of 

his 1909 bid, but the situation in Virginia had changed. Boss 

Tom Martin had died in 1919. Martin's position of leadership in 

Virginia's Democratic organization was assumed by Harry Flood 

Byrd. Byrd, former editor of the Winchester Star, had risen 

quickly in the ranks of the party organization under the tutelage 

of Martin and his uncle and namesake, Hal Flood. 253 With Flood 

entrenched in the tenth district congressional seat, Byrd was 

the natural choice for State Democratic Chairman. After Judge 

Mann's term as governor had expired in 1914, Henry c. Stuart 

captured the office. Stuart's former status as an independent 

blurred, and his four years as governor were marked by increasing 

cooperation with Martin and his forces. In 1918, however, the 

machine suffered a severe setback when Westmoreland Davis, an 

independent Democrat was elected governor. Running as the "farmers' 

candidate" on a vaguely "wet" platform, Davis won the nomination 

with a plurality over two candidates who divided the "dry" 

vote between them. His four years in office were enlivened 

for his outspoken opposition to Martin, Flood and their hench­

men.254 Governor Davis added a degree of urgency to the 
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hour by announcing his intention to enter the August primary 

election for the Senate seat heid by Claude A. swanson. 255 

" In 1921, then, Tucker reentered politics at a time when Byrd 

was anxious to consolidate his leadership of the party, and 

determined to restore the governor's office to machine control. 

Tucker announced his platform at the outset of his 

campaign. In his letter to Thomas H. Downing, he revealed 

his slogan: "Back to the Constitution. 11256 He then elaborated 

upon its meaning: 

What we need is an old time revival of pure and 
undefeated Democracy, with all the "isms" except 
"Americanism" relegated to the scrap heap ..... 
Such a platform adopted by Virginia which practically 
made the Constitution, as against the meaningless 
platitudes so often adopted only to be broken, would 
enlist the enthusiastic support not only of thousands 
of Virginians, but of tens of thousands of loyal 
Democrats throughout the whole country ..... 257 

In The Lexington Gazette the following January, Tucker was 

more specific. He deplored any further concentration of power 

in the Federal government at the expense of the reserved powers 

of the state. "I would have our people consider soberly the 

258 
dangers of an overly-amended Constitution in the future." 

Be then called for an enlargement and modernization of Virginia's 

budget system, for better public schools and for the speedy 

259 
construction of the state highway system. 

At the suggestion of Byrd and Flood, machine support 

· . kl 260 . kl in the primary race went to E. Lee Trin e. Trin e was a 

state senator from Wytheville and a fiercely loyal organization 
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man. In 1916 he had unsuccessfully tried to unseat Repub~ican 

Bascome Slemp from his ninth district Congressional seat. 

Trinkle was best known for his ardent support of both prohibition 

261 and woman's suffrage. Tucker, on the other hand, still 

opposed both on principle. He was careful, however, to clarify 

his position: 

My opposition to the ratification of woman's suffrage 
by Federal amendment was the expression of my convictions. 
That issue, like prohibition is settled, and I accept 
unreservedly, the will of the majority; and if elected 
Governor of Virginia, I shall cheerfully welcome women 
to the full enjoyment of their rights of citizenship .. 

The campaign was not particularly vigorous. Voters recognized 

that both candidates were honorable men, worthy of the office. 

The Roanoke Times clarified the major distinction between the 

two candidates: Trinkle was a "young, progressive, forward 

looking Democrat" while Tucker was "a reactionary ... looking 

h f h
. . . . 11263 tote past or is inspiration. Tucker realized that 

"Back to the Constitution sounded somewhat dated in the pro­

gressive business-oriented atmosphere of 1921, and he hastened 

to add that he was whole-heartedly in favor of "progressive 

d d • ff• • II 264 economy an pro uctive e iciency. The campaign remained 

subdued, so subdued: in fact that The Lexington Gazette concluded 

that the old organization and anti-organization battle lines 

had eroded with time. 265 The conclusion was ridiculous; Byrd, 

Flood and Senator Claude A. Swanson were active in Trinkle's 

camp, as was Governor Davis in Tucker's. 266 

One month before the primary, the race appeared to be 
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already decided; Tucker, as the more widely known and senior 

politician, would carry the day. But on July 22, The Danville 

Register, owned by loyal organization man Roger A. James, 

1 h d . k k 267 aunc e a vigorous attac on Tue er. In an article entitled 

"Mr. Tucker's Record Reviewed," the editor raised the tired 

issue of Tucker's bolt from the Demodratic party in 1896 .. 268 

On July 31, he published a slanderous cartoon which depicted 

Tucker as a "prodigal son" dressed in rags and returning to 

the "house of his fathers. 11269 The cartoon was widely reprinted 

throughout the state in the remaining two days before the 

270 primary on August 1. Tucker bitterly resented these last 

minute attacks upon his character and threatened to sue James 

and the Danville Register. 271 He was so incensed, in fact, that 

he published a twenty seven page booklet in yet another attempt 

to clear his name of disloyalty to the Democratic party. 

The damage to Tucker's gubernatorial aspirations was 

beyond repair. On August 1, Trinkle surprised Virginia voters 

by winning a clear majority of 22,526. 272 In the end, seven 

of Virginia's ten Congressional districts went for Trinkle. 273 

Once more, the Democratic machine defeated Tucker the independent. 

Without a major issue such as prohibition to rely on, the 

organization's maneuverings were the deciding factor .. 
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CHAPTER.III 

THE FINAL CONGRESSIONAL YEARS OF 
HENRY ST. GEORGE TUCKER 

The second congressional term of Henry St. George Tucker 

came about by chance. On December 7, 1921, Hal Flood died of 

a heart attack after serving twenty-three years in Congress. 274 

Tucker's old tenth district congressional seat fell vacant for 

the first time since Flood had captured it in 1898. In spite of 

his gubernatorial defeat the month before, Tucker immediately 

began a vigorous canvas to regain his old seat. Popular senti­

ment was very much with him. One friend wrote to say that it 

was truly heartwarming "to know that he [Tucker] is again in 

the chase although he may have a little rheumatism in his 

legs; but thank God there is none in his voice or in his heart 

and he is just as ready to tree a Republican fox as he was 

in his younger days. 11275 

Tucker's race for Congress was unique in his long 

career. In 1922, he added machine support to his own inde­

pendent base for the first time in thirty-four years of 

political life. This new-found support was the result more of 

the actions of ex-Governor WestmorelandDavis than to any 
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rapproachment between Tucker and the Byrd machine. With 

E. Lee Trinkle safely in the Governor's mansion, the Democratic 

organization was in the strongest position it had reached in 

four years. Davis, however, posed a continual threat to its 

consolidation of power. Immediately.after leaving office in 

1921, Davis launched a campaign to prevent the reelection of 

Senator Claude A. Swanson, who had the support of the machine. 

As a result of Davis's challenge the organization began to close 

k . 't' 276 rans in opposi ion. It welcomed many former independents 

back into the fold on what was sure to be the winning side. 

This closing of ranks in preparation for the onslaught against 

Davis greatly benefitted Tucker who many felt deserved to 

return to Congress in the first place. 277 

On February 14, 1922, the tenth district held a 

special convention in Staunton to name Flood's successor. 278 

As a sentimental favorite with machine acquiescence, Tucker 

won the nomination on the first ballot. The vote stood at Tucker, 

79; Aubrey E. strode of Amherst, 19; Floyd W. King of Clifton 

Forge, 16; Richard E. Bierne of Alleghany, 8; and H. H. Byrd of 

Bath, 6. The delegates then made the nomination unanimous. 279 

They ushered Tucker to the podium amid cheers and gave him a 

standing ovation. In a highly emotional acceptance speech 

he stated, "When I think of the noble young men who contested 
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with me for this honor, my feeling is not one of exaltation but 

of obligation and service." He then paid tribute to the memory 

280 
of Hal Flood. 

The Democrats set a special election for March 21 to 

fill Flood's unexpired term which ended March 4, 1923.281 

Although the outcome was assured, Tucker followed his triumphant 

nomination with a vigorous letter writing campaign, searching 

for support among his old constituency. His letter read: 

You tried to make me Governor. Can you now fail to 
help me attain a position that I am better suited 
for than that? Did Providence deny me the Governor­
ship because He intended me for this work as better 
suited to me? 11 There is a divinity that shapes 
our ends_ .. rough hew them as we will. :i

282 

The response was immensely gratifying to Tucker. His cousin, 

Dr. Beverly R. Tucker of Richmond, pledged his support and added, 

11 I only wish cousin H. D. [Flood] were here so you cru ld beat 

him out. 11283 His old friend H. L. Wallace declared that in 

failing to secure the nomination for governor Tucker had, 

"done slipped upward. . to use an old darkey's 

expression. 11284 On March 21, Tucker won re-election to Congress 

without opposition. The Republicans had failed to name a 

candidate and the voting was miniscule. An unsigned card sent 

to Tucker following his victory summarized the district's joy 

at Tucker's political renaissance: "Hip Hip Hurrah! There 
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is nothing like retribution. I hope Hal Flood is wriggling 

in his grave! 11285 A:C:ter a tw~nty-five year absence from 

office, Democracy's "prodigal son" had at last come back into 

his own. 

On March 28, 1922, Tucker took his old seat in the 

House of Representatives amid a highly emotional standing 

ovation from both sides of the aisle.
286 

At the age of seventy, 

he found only four members who had served with him during his 

first years in Congress. This made his warm reception all the 

. fl 287 more meaning u. 

Times had changed since Tucker had first served in the 

House. The business of government had become much more complex. 

Automobiles were rare in 1897. Now legislation to 

reguiate both was necessary. Since Tucker left the Congress, 

the United states had enacted nation-wide prohibition and fought 

an European War. Both events had. pc:ssed. Though Tucker's 

interests were now more diverse, as reflected in his speeches 

and comments during his last ten years in Congress, his defense 

of states' rights against the ever widening power of the 

Federal government and the strict interpretation of the 

Constitution remained the driving force in all of his actions. 

To many of his younger colleagues, Tucker championed a dated 
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cause. He himself viewed the Federal government's gradual 

assumption of the functions of the states as an issue of grave 

and timeless importance. Every day he saw alarming indications 

of the growing power of the central government and rese to 

the states' defense at every opport~ity. 

Tucker saw the efforts of the Congress to regulate child 

labor as a clear case of infringement on states' rights. 

Reformers had long sought to rrotect minors from the harshness 

of industrial work conditions. The election in 1912 of Presi-

dent Woodrow Wilson and a Democratic Congress had raised their 

expectations. In 1916, the Congress used the interstate commerce 

clause of the Gonstitution to justify Federal intervention, and 

passed an act to prohibit the interstate shipment of goods 

manufactured in mills and factories employing children under 

fourteen years of age. It prohibited employing children between 

fourteen and sixteen years of age for more than eight hours a 

d t . ht 289 ay, or a nig . Wilson strongly supported the act. He 

saw it as the "Magna Charta for the children of the Republic. 11290 

Tucker disagreed. In a speech before the Florida Bar Association 

on July 25, 1916, Tucker first argued that the legislation was 

not needed and second that it violated the Constitution. 

The Staunton News Leader called him the "only Congressman to 

stand on the burning, sinking ship of strict construction of 
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e Constitution." 

The supreme Court, however, agreed with Tucker. In the 

case of Hammer vs. Dagenhart, which it decided on June 3, 1918, 

by a five to four decision, it ruled the child Labor Act uncon­

stitutional. The Court held that manufactured articles were 

not subject to laws regulating interstate commerce until they 

t 11 h . d 292 were ac ua y s ippe. As the underaged children worked 

on such articles before shipment, they were in no way a part of 

. 293 . 
interstate commerce. Congress responded by passing the 

Revenue Act of 1919. The act stipulated that any manufacturer 

employing children under fourteen years of age or employing 

children between fourteen and sixteen years of age for more 

than eight hours a day should pay a tax of ten per cent on 

d . f h . . d f t . 294 
gross pro uction o t eir mines an ac ories. This act 

was also declared unconstitutional by the supreme court in the 

case of Bailey vs. Drexel Furniture company, upon the ground 

that the taxing powers of Congress could not be used as a means 

of preventing child labor in the states. 295 

By 1924 the issue had taken the form of a proposed 

twentieth amendment to the Constitution. On April 26, 1924, 

H.T. Res. 184 proposing an amendment to the constitution which 

would grant congress the power to regulate and prohibit the 

labor of all persons under the age of eighteen, came up for 
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d . . 296 h iscussion. Te seventy-two year old Tucker rose to combat 

proposed 
it. Advocates of the/amendmen.t claimed that three per cent of 

the nation's children were engaged in "dangerous occupations," 

but he insisted that the actual figure was only six tenths of 

one per cent. 297 Tucker admitted that the unfortunate minority 

needed government protection, but that it was state, not federal, 

action that would best solve the problem. Tucker then asked if 

there were a single man present who had not done many hard days 

work before he was eighteen years old. The proposed amendment 

would rob a child of its manhood and bring starvation to the 

negroes of the South. "What would you do with them," he added 

"if they could not work after school? 11298 Tucker later extended 

his remarks in the Congressional Record: 

The southern states have made wonderful progress in 
child labor laws, in the limitations of hours, and 
in compulsory education laws: and the state of North 
Carolina passed in the years from 1916 to 1923 more 
child labor laws than any state in the union. 
The proposed amendment is without merit. What is 
proposed by it for the federal government has already 
been done by the states, and better done than the 
federal government could ever do it. The rights of 
childhood are best protected at home or near_ 
home .... 2 99 

Despite the labors of Tucker and other advocates of states 

rights, the proposed amendment passed the House and the Senate 

and was submitted to the states for ratification. In the 

states the amendment failed. The debate centered on states'rights 

69 



r . 

. 

ti 1:fs.j i· 
I 

11 
II 
·/1 ~~ 

and not social justice. Hostility to the amendment was 

strongest in the agricultural areas of the country Where there 

was a widespread opposition to legislation by constitutional 

amendrnent. 300 By February of 1925, more than one quarter of 

the states had already rejected the amendment, preventing the 

three-fourths majority needed for ratification. 301 In Virginia, 

Tucker's mail was full of praise for his efforts in the House. 

One constituent, G. W. Hook, stressed.the old maxim that the 

devil would find work for the hands of idle children. 302 

Frederic W. Keough, president of The National Committee for 

the Rejection of the TWentieth Amendment saluted his efforts: 

"If we had more two-fisted battlers like yourself with us, this 

preposterous 'child-labor' amendment would be thrown in the 

303 
rubbish heap of every state." On the state level, Tucker 

had raised his voice in opposition to what he saw as a flagrant 

attempt to usurp the rights of the states. 

Tucker also fought all efforts to pass a maternity bill 

during the last ten years of his life. The various maternity 

bills shared the well meaning intentions of the Child Labor 

Act. Tucker believed they posed an equally serious threat 

to the sovereignty of the states. The same reform spirit that 

had pressured congress to enact child-labor legislation demanded 

federal action to improve the welfare of mothers and their 
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babies. Congress responded on November 23, 1921, by passing 

"an act for the promotion of the welfare and hygiene of maternity 

and infancy, and for other purposes. 11304 It provided .ederal 

funds to assist in upgrading the states' services for expectant 

th f t . 1 . d f . 305 mo ers or a ria perio o five years. In 1926 the five 

year period expired. Supporters introduced a bill to extend 

the law for two years to allow the states which had accepted 

Federal funds to adjust to the expiration of the law. 306 

On March 3, 1926, Tucker attacked the Maternity Bill in the 

House. He objected to the Federal Government's assumption of 

state powers by a broad interpretation of the general welfare 

clause of the Constitution. The Constitution provides: "The 

Congress shall ·have power to lay and collect taxes, duties, 

imports and excise_s, to pay the debts and provide for the common 

defense and general welfare of the United States. 
,,307 

It then lists seventeen specific grants of power. Tucker 

attacked the Maternity Bill by arguing that it was uncon­

stitutional. He denied the validity of a broad interpretation 

of the general welfare clause which the bill's supporters used 

to justify it. To him the clause was a threat to the Lepublican 

form of government. He quoted at length from Judge Joseph S.tory on 

the Constitution: 

The constitution was, from its origin, contemplated to 
be the frame of a national government of special and 
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enumerated powers and not of general and unlimited 
powers. If the clause 11 to pay the debts and provide 
for the common defens~ and welfare of the United 
States" is construed to be an independent and sub­
stantive grant of power, it not only renders wholly 
unimportant and unnecessary the subsequent enumeration 
of specific powers but it plainly extends far beyond 
these and creates a general.authority in Congress to 
pass all laws which they may deem for the common 
defense· or general welfare. Under such circumstances 
the Constitution would practically create an unlimited 
national power.308 

What was the value of the other seventeen enumerated powers of 

Congress, TUcker asked, if the general welfare clause gave 
r-, 

Congress the power to do everything anyway; He then described 

his own interpretation of the clause: 

The words "common defense" and "general welfare" which 
are found in this first clause relate to every grant 
of power in the whole sentence. The sentence is not 
completed with a full stop until the end of the eighteenth 
grant of power. These are words of general import; 
indeed, that is emphasized by the fact that they are in 
the preamble of the Constitution. It is recognized 
that they carry no force, no power, but are in the 
premable merely to indicate the general scope and 
purpose of the Constitution which is to follow. 309 

Tucker then quoted Chief Justice John Marshall's decision in 

the case of Gibbons vs. Ogden in which he discussed the power 

of taxation belonging to the states and the Federal government. 

Congress, Marshall ha.d argued, was not empowered to tax for 

purposes which the constitution reserved exclusively to the 

states.
310 

Laws concerning health was one such area. 311 
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Tucker then narrowed his attack to the Maternity Bill. 

He stated that the bill's appropriated approximately $1,232,079 

for the welfare and hygiene of mothers and infants was uncon­

stitutional: "We have been appropriating money for that purpose 

and it looks as if we were trying to·adopt a principle by which 

Uncle Sam is to be the midwife of every expectant mother in the 

country. This is state socialism, and I am against it. I am 

against the federal government appropriating any money to any 

function which belongs to the States. 11312 In spite of his 

argument detailing the unconstitutionality of the Maternity 

Bill, the bill extending its life for two years passed the 

House. 

In January of 1927 the Senate amended the House bill 

to insure its demise. The amendment read: "That said act 

(H.R. 7555) entitled 'an act for the promotion of the welfare 

and hygiene of maternity and infancy, and for other purposes' 

approved November 23, 1921, shall, after June 30, 1929, be of 

no force and effect." The House agreed to the proposed termina­

tion date. 313 For- TUcker this was sufficient. He pointed out 

in his remarks in the Congressional Record that two more years 

of Federal appropriations were of little importance in compari­

son with the "great end attained in wiping from the statute 

books of the country a law unconstitutional from the 
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b . . .. 314 • eg inning . . . He insisted that the states could take 

care of themselves, and that in his state of Virginia there 

were adequate hospital facilities in every county. He con­

cluded by stressing the basis of his opposition to the measure: 

I rejoice that this law, humane in its intent but 
unjustified under the Constitution of the country, 
is at last repealed, and that the same happened to 
be on the 19th of January, the birthday of General 
Robert E. Lee, the great Confederate hero who fought 
the battles of the south for the great doctrine of 
local self government and the rights of the 
states .... 315 

The sterling-Towner Education Bill was the major target 

in Tucker's battle against a broad interpretation of the 

"general welfare" clause of the constitution. In 1922 the 

chairman of committees appointed him to the Committee on 

Education, the only committee with a vacancy at the time of his 

return to Congress. 316 Tucker's experience as a professor of 

law and the dangers he saw inherent in the bill combined to 

make the issue a crucial one for him. On January 3, 1924, Tucker 

delivered the longest and best known speech of his later career. 

Holding the floor for more than two hours, he began by briefly 

outlining the features of the bill: First, it provided for the 

creation of a Secretary of Education, who would be a member of 

the President's cabinet. Second, it authorized a federal 

appropriation of $100 million to the states to encourage public 
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education. Third, it imposed various conditions that the 

states had to meet to secure the appropriations. Fourth, it 

provided for the creation of a National Council of Education to 

advise the Secretary of Education. 317 The supporters of the bill 

argued in favor of its constitutionality by citing the general 

welfare clause of the Constitution. Tucker turned to a lengthy 

discussion of the drafting of the Constitution and the correct 

interpretaticn of the words 11 the general welfare. 11 His argument 

repeated his attack against the Maternity Bill, but he also 

cited the opposition of the states to the Constitution at the 

time of its adoption. Those with Republican sympathies feared 

federal powers would annihilate the states. In ratifying the 

Constitution, seven states had offered a total of 126 amendments 

to limit federal power, but not one had mentioned the general 

318 welfare clause. Tucker concluded that, because these "watch-

ful critics" of federal power had seen no threat in the clause, 

there had been no inherent federal power in the clause itself 

at the time of its creation. 319 

Tucker then attacked the Sterling-Towner Education Bill 

itself. He admitted that the act itself was harmless, but 

its long-range impact was extremely dangerous: "In this bill 

the camel only desires to get his neck under the tent cover­

ing .•.. 11320 It was the event\1,al assumption of state power 
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by the federal government that he feared. He used the example 

of state roads to clarify his point. The federal government 

provided half of the money spent to build and maintain the 

roads. State authorities administer the funds. The appro­

priation started just as this bill •did, very innocently 

and with proper regard for the rights of the states, and "yet 

today not a mile of road can be built in any state of the union 

with federal money without the declaration of the officers of 

the federal government that it measures up to their requirements 

of a road. . ,.321 Then, having established the unconstitution-

ality of the bill to his satisfaction he attacked its imper­

fections. First, he said, the advocates of the bill wished to 

"nationalize, federalize and standardize" education in the 

322 
United States: 

The federal government is given power to appropriate 
money to the schools and second, to lay down conditions 
upon which the money can be received by the states. 
Those conditions will bring about the standardization 
of education into one uniform, inflexible system common 
to all the states, while the bill on its face gives the 
complete control of the school to the states .... 
To standardize the school system of America is merely 
another word for transferring the system bodily from 
the control of the state to the control of the federal 
government.323 

Next, Tucker attacked the provision to establish a 

Secretary of Education. He insisted that the creation of such 

a department would bring the schools of the country into politics 
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and make them a "football" of the political parties. 324 "The 

vitality, the force, and efficiency of the schools depend on 

their absolute freedom from any political influence, and this 

security can not be had when the controlling power of the schools 

325 · 
would be a political appointee." Tucker also argued that the 

claim that the Secretary of Education would be above political 

bias was too absurd for consideration. 326 Should the bill 

become a law, it would result in the "impairment or the des­

truction" of the school systems of some states rather than 

their improvement. 

Tucker was primarily interested in defending the. 

peculiar social structure of his state and section. In 1924 

seventeen of the forty-eight states maintained separate schools 

for blacks and whites. The seventeen were all southern or 

border states. Tucker pointed out that the other thirty-one 

states had 283 members in congress compared to only 132 members 

in the seventeen segregated states. "With the power to fix 

conditions upon which the money shall be spent, will not thirty­

one states control seventeen in eliminating the separation of 

races in the schools? To allow our school systems in the south 

to be put in this dangerous position cannot be tolerated. 11327 

Tucker then pointed out that the bill gave Congress the power 

to appropriate money to the states and then to "relinquish any 
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control whatsoever of the money granted. 11328 congress, said 

Tucker, was responsible for the people's money. To hand over the 

money to another government and to give up all control over its 

d ·t 1 b d t f ·t ·b·1·t 329 expe i ure was a c ear a an onmen o is responsi ii y. 

TUcker attacked the cost of the bill. He asked: "Why should 

we by this bill.increase the debt of the government $100,000,000, 

or more likely by $300,000,000 in five years when every patriot 

in the country is striving to reduce it? 11330 He concluded his 

speech by invoking the evils of the Federal governmen~s usurp~ng 

the powers of the states: 

This bill also represents a large spoke in the large 
wheel of consolidation, which unless checked will 
finally place all of the interests of the people of the 
United states, national and local, in a consolidated 
empire in Washington. Time would fail me to regard 
even a partial list of the bills that have become laws 
and those that are pressing for consideration involving 
appropriations to the states. Each is a spoke in this 
great wheel of consolidation. 331 

Tucker's effort was greatly applauded both by his colleagues 

and his constituents. George S. Graham, Chairman of the House 

Judiciary Committee, wrote to Tucker requesting a copy of the 

speech and vowing to save it as a "valuable document for refer-

ence and guidance. 11332 The House voted down the bill, for which 

Tucker certainly deserves considerable credit. He did express 

the fear that the bill had nine lives, and he vowed to go on 

fighting it for nine more lives of his own. 333 
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Tucker's second term in Congress is notable more for his 

devotion to principle than for any masterful constitutional 

debate. In February of 1925, Congress voted to increase the 

salary of congressmen and senators from $7,500 to $10,000 a 

334 
year. Tucker vigorously opposed-the pay raise. He demanded 

a roll call vote to place on the record each member's stand on 

increasing his own pay. This stipulation was voted down. 335 

Tucker stated his general objections to the pay raise in a brief 

speech on the floor of the House: 

This action is in itself unwarranted, and the fact that 
we are beneficiaries of the action aggravates the evil 
of it ...• But if the increase is to be made, I would 
much prefer to see it become effective two years hence 
than now, for then I would know that neither I nor 
other members would receive the increase for a two year 
term to which we have already been elected. 336 

On February 26, Tucker followed rhetoric with action. He wrote 

to Joseph Rodgers, Sergeant-At-Arms of the House, instructing 

him to withold the monthly increase from his own paycheck. This 

gesture naturally attracted attention from the newspapers and 

caught the public's fancy. Mrs. Bertie Hamen wrote from Balti­

more, to inform Tucker that her Emanuel Lutheran Church could 

certainly use the money if he could not.
337 

Though unselfish, 

Tucker I s gesture was hardly original. In 1816, his grandfather, 

the first Henry St. George Tucker, had refused a pay raise from 

$6 to $8 a day. 338 
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Tucker's second congressional career lasted ten years. 

In the winter of 1931 he was stricken with influenza. He 

returned to his home, "Col Alto" in Lexington,Virginia, to 

recuperate. In 1932 he developed heart disease and his strength 

failed. In July he lay critically ill for ten days, his third 

wife Mary Jane and his six grown children at his bedside. On 

Jµly 23, at the age of eighty, he suffered a heart attack at 

seven b'clock in the evening and died. He was buried in the 

Lexington cemetery; scores of his constituents with tears in 

339 their eyes lined the streets to pay their respects. He 

was eulogized in Congress as a courageous politician who loved 

his fellowman, and as "one of the happiest mortals who ever 

lived. 11340 Riding back to Washington from his funeral, Senator 

Carter Glass summed him up aptly: "no one would have enjoyed 

his own funeral more than Harry Tucker. 11341 

80 



FOOTNOTES 

1 . 
Congressional Record, 72 Cong., 2 Sess., LXXVI, 

Feb. 17, 1933, 4357-4361. 

4361. 

2 
Tucker, Beverly, Tales of the Tuckers, 2. 

3 . 
Congressional Record, 72 Cong., 2 Sess., LXXVI, 4357-

4 Tucker, 65-66. 

5 · · f . . h 33 Dictionary o American Biograp y, • 

6The Lexington Gazette, July 25, 1932, p. 2. 

7 
Tucker, 65-66. 

8unknown Staunton druggist to Tucker, Tucker Family 
papers, Mccormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, September 2, 
1888. 

9· 
Obituary of Henry~t. George Tucker from an unidentified 

newspaper, Rockbridge Historical Society, McCormick, Library, 
Lexington, Virginia, July 28, 1932. 

l01909 clipping in which a Mr. Wysor urges election of 
Tucker for Governor, J. Taylor Ellyson Collection, University 
of Virginia Manuscript Collection. 

11Description of Tucker from Congressman John W. Flannagen 
of Virginia's ninth district, Congressional Record, 72 Cong., 
2 Sess., 4357-4361. 

12Ibid. 

13obituary of Henry St. George Tucker from an unidentified 
newspaper, Rockbridge Historical Society, McCormick Library, 
Lexington, Virginia, July 28, 1932. 

81 



, 

,f 
';i".t 
',:_ 

1 
I 
I 
1 

i 
I 

I 

' l .. 
l 

' ·, 
I 

JJ 

15
Letter from William c. Preston to Tucker, Tucker 

Family Papers, Mccormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, 
August 1, 1888. 

16
Letter from R. B. Rdbinson to Tucker, Ibid~, April 

16, 1883. 

17speech of George M. Harrison delivered at the 
Democratic Convention in Staunton, Ibid., August 1, 1888. 

18Ibid. 

19 h . 1 Te Lexington Gazette, August 5, 1888, . 

20rbid. 

21Ibid. 

22 Ibid. 

23The Lexington Gazette, September 20, 1888, 2. 

24Ibid. 

25The Lexington Gazette, October 11, 1888, 1. 

26Ibid. 

27Ibid. 

28
By coincidence, John Randolph Tucker had defeated 

Yost with the same margin in the congressional race of 1884. 
Lexington Gazette, November 11, 1888, p. 3. 

29rbid. 

30 
Letter of congratulations to Tucker, Tucker Family 

Papers, McCormick,Library, Lexington, Virginia, November 9, 
1888. 

31congressional Record, 72 Congress, 2 Sess., LXXVI, 
Feb. 17, 1933, 4357-4361. 

32rbid., 53 Cong., 1 Sess., XXV, September 26, 1893, 
1803-1811. 

82 



33
rbid., 72 Cong., 2 Sess., LXXVI, February 17, 1933, 

4357-4361. 

34rbid. 

35unknown letter to Tucker, Tucker Family Papers, 
McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, October 30, 1893. 

36 . l Congressional Record, 5 Cong., 2 Sess., June 26, 
1890, 6560-6567. 

37rbid. 

38rbid. 

39rbid. 

40rbid. 

41Ibid. 

42 rbid. 

43Letter from H. H. Stuart to Tucker, Tucker Manuscripts, 
Southern Historical Collection, University of North Carolina 
Library, July 19, 1890. 

44congressional Record, 53 Cong., 1 Ses&, September 
26, 1893, 1808-1811. 

45 rbid. 

46The Lexington Gazette, February 15, 1894, 2. 

47rbid. 

48 . 1 d Congressiona Recor, 72 Cong., 2 Sess., LXXVI, 
February 17, 1933, 4357-4361. 

49rbid., July 12, 1892, 6060-6067. 

50rbid. 

51rbid. 

52 rbid. 

83 



53 Ibid. 

54Ibid. 

55
Ibid. 

56 . 
Ibid. 

57rbid. 

58 
Letter from B. T. Gordon to Tucker, Tucker Manuscripts, 

southern Historical Collection Library, University of North 
Carolina, July 4, 1892~ 

59
congressional Record, July 12, 1892, 6060-6067. These 

states included: New York, Louisiana, Illinois, Oregon, California, 
Idaho, Iowa, Wisconsin, Indiana, Kansas and Kentucky. 

60 Moger, 115. 

61 b'd ..!...1:__. 

62 
Unknown letter to Tucker, Tucker Family Papers, McCormick 

Library, Lexington, Virginia, January 4, 1894. 

63congressional Record, 53 Cong., 2 Sess., :XXVI, July 
20, 1894, 1134-1136. 

64 b'd ..!...1:__. 

65
Ibid. 

66rbid. 

67 Moger, Virginia Bourbonism to Byrd, 86. 

68
congressional Record, 52 Cong., 1 Sess., XXIV, May 19, 

1890, 179-181. 

69
Ibid. 

70rbid. 

71Ibid. 

84 



·:_:_1_:_· ~_, ~ 
1~ 
II Jt 
fl 

---~_-_,_·_:_ I <~,l 

JJ
,J; 

. 

. 

. 

72 . 
Congressional Record, 53 cong., 2 Sess., XXVI, 

January 30, 1894, 431-437. 

73 b"d ~-
74 b'd ~-
75 

Ibid. 

76
Ibid. 

77 Ibid. -

78Ibid., Tucker referred to the Democratic majority 
elected to Congress in 1892. 

79 . 11 1 1 . Nevins, A an, Grover c eve and A study in couraye, 
689. 

80 
Moger, Allan W. Virginia Bourbonism to Byrd, 145. 

81
Nevins, 465. 

82 
Moger, 146. 

83 
Ibid. 

84 
Ibid. 

85 b" I id., 147. 

86
Ibid., 148. 

87Ibid. 

88
Ibid. 

89Ibid., 149. 

90 . 
Nevins, 540. 

91In 1878 John d.l h k th 1 . Ran op Tue er was e so e Democrat in 
congress to oppose both the "Bland Allison Act" for increasing 
the coinage of silver and the propagat_ion of greenback ideas. 

85 



92 . 1 d 51 Congressiona Recor, st Cong., 2nd Sess., XXIII, 
July 10, 1890. 

93 . 1 d 53 d Congressiona Recor, r Cong.# 1st sess., XXV, 
August 28, 1893, 1003-8. 

94
rbid. 

95 b"d 1-.2:_. 

96 
William Jennings Bryan was later to become a flaming 

advocate of the sixteen to one ratio; which was the primary 
issue in the 1896 Democratic Presidential bid. 

97Booklet entitled "A Statement of Henry st. George 
Tucker of Lexington, Virginia," Rockbridge Historical Society, 
Lexington, Virginia, 14. 

98 
Moger, 155. 

99 kb. . . 1 . b kl 13 Roe ridge Historica Society oo et, . 

100 Moger, 155. 

lOlibid., 156. 

102Nevins, 693. 

103 
Moger, 150-151. 

104rbid. 

105rbid., 157. 

106congressional Record, 54th Cong., 1st Sess., February 
6, 1896, 2427-2429. 

107congressional Record, 54th Cong., 1st Sess., XXVIII, 
February 6, 1896, 2427-2429. 

108rbid. 

l09 rbid. 

ll0rbid. 

86 



-~---------------------
' t -,, 

T 

' _; 1· 

i, 
... ~ 

I 
1 

,5 ~ 

( ,. 

;~t : 
JI 
f;: 

lt 
~ 

JI 

d 

111rbid. 

112rbid. 

113 b"d ~. 
114 b"d ~-
115rbid. 

116rbid. 

117Letter from Dr. I. R. Gordon to H. Tucker, Tucker 
Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, April 
17, 1890. 

118 Moger, 157. 

119rbid. 

120 b"d ~-
121rbid. 

122unsigned letter to H. Tucker, Tucker Family Papers, 
McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, June 5, 1896. 

123Lexington Gazette, June 10, 1896, 3. 

124rbid. 

125rbid. 

126unsigned letter to H. Tucker, Tucker Family Papers, 
McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, June 5, 1896. 

127 · tt 10 1896 3 Lexington Gaze e, June , , . 

1 28Letter to H. Tucker, Tucker Family Papers, McCormick 
Library, Lexington, Virginia, June 5, 1896. 

129Another letter to Tucker on the same subject, Tucker 
Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, June 5, 
1896. 

130 · 1 1 d 693 Nevins, Grover C eve an, . 

87 



131
Letter from William A. McAllister to Tuckers, Tucker 

Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virgi~ia, June 25, 
1896. 

132 
Letter from Tucker to H. D. Flood, Tucker Family 

Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, September 8, 
1893. 

133 
Letter from H. st. George Tucker to John Randolph 

Tucker, Ibid., June 29, 1896. 

134 -
Booklet, "A statement of Harry st. George Tucker of 

Lexington, Virginia," 11. 

135Ibid. 

136 h · t 1896 2 Te Lexing on Gazette, August 5, , . 

137Letter from R. G. Wright to Tucker, Tucker Family 
Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, July 31, 1896. 

138Letter from Marriot Brosius to Tucker, Ibid. 

139Letter from Benjamin Hayden to Tucker, 
Tucker Family Manuscripts, University of North Carolina 
Southern Historical Collection, November 12, 1896. 

140Letter from Charles H. Paxton to Tucker, Tucker Family 
Papers, McCormick Library, July 15, 1896. 

141Bryan and Tucker had once been deskmates in Congress. 
Tucker maintained that they were good friends. 

142The Lexington Gazette, August 5, 1896, 3. 

143 . · Letter from Bryan•s secretary, W. T. Schwind, to 
Tucker, The Tucker Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, 
Virginia, September 17, 1896. 

144Letter from Francis R. Lasseler to Tucker, Ibid., 
September 28, 1896. 

145Ibid. 

146Letter from Hal D. Flood to Tucker, Ibid., October 
22, 18-96. 

88 



147 Moger, 159. 

148 . . f. . f Unidenti ied obituary o Harry Tucker, Rockbridge 
Historical Society, Lexington, Virginia, July 28, 1932. 

149
Ibid. 

150 b' I id. 

151Ibid. 

152n b · v· . . v· . . Th N . . 4 a ney, irginius, irginia, e ew Dominion, 48. 

153 Ibid. 

154 Moger, 24. 

155Letter from H. Tucker to George Foster Peabody, 
Tucker Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, 
February 17, 1925. 

156columbia University is now George Washington 
University. 

157 'd 'f' d b' f k kb 'd Uni enti ie o ituary o Harry Tue er, Roe ri ge 
Historical Society, Lexington, Virginia, July 28, 1932. 

158rbid. 

159rbid .. 

160 
Dabney, Virginia, The New Dominion, 454. 

161rbid. 

162Tucker, Tales of the Tuckers, 150. 

163nabney, Virginia, The New Dominion, 454. 

164Tucker, Beverly, Tales of the Tuckers, 147. 

165 Moger, Allen W., Virginia Bourbonism to Byrd 1870-
1925, 203. 

166rbid. 

89 



s4 

167
Fitzhugh Lee was the nephew of General Robert E. 

Lee. 

168 hn ... 
Ho er, Robert A., "Prohibition and Virginia 

Politics: William Hodges Mann versus Henry St. George Tucker, 
1909, 11 The Virginia Magazine of History and Biography, XLIV,- 91. 

169Moger, 70. 

170 
Hohner, 174. 

171 rbid.-, 203-. 

172
The 1905 senatorial race was the first to be decided 

by a direct vote of the people. 

173 Moger, 210. 

174
Ibid., 212. 

175
rbid., 215. 

176rbid. 

177A clipping from the 1909 gubernatorial scrapbook, 
J. Taylor Ellyson Collection, University of Virginia Archives. 

178Moger, 308. 

179A clipping from the 1909 gubernatorial scrapbook, 
J. Taylor Ellyson Collection, University of Virginia Archives. 

180rbid. 

181rbid. 

1821:Iohner, 92. 

183 rbid. 

184 
Tucker, 147. 

185A clipping from the 1909 gubernatorial scrapbook, J. 
Taylor Ellyson Collection, University of Virginia Archives. 

186rbid. 

90 



187rbid. 

188rbid. --
189rbid --· 
l 90rbid. 

191rbid --· 
192rbid. 

J,. 93 rbid. 

194
rbid. 

195rbid. 

196 b'd I J. .. 

197rbid. 

198
rbid. 

199rbid. 

200
rbid. 

201 rbid. 

202
rbid. 

203 rbid. 

204rbid. 

205 rbid. 

206rbid. 

207 Moger, 241. · 

208A clipping from the 1909 gubernatorial scrapbook, J. Taylor 
Ellyson Collection, University of Virginia Archives. 

209rbid. 

91 



i 
I 

f 

sf 

210 b'd 1.._1:_. 

211Hohner, 88. 

212 rbid., 89. 

213 rbid. 

214 1 · ' f 9 b b Ac ipping rom the 190 gu ernatorial scrap ook, J. 
Taylor Ellyson collection, University of Virginia Archives. 

215Hohner, 89. 

216The Good Templars, The Woman's Christian Temperance 
Union, and the Multitudes of the Methodist and Baptist Churches. 
Hohner, 89. 

217 Ibid., 90. 

218 rbid. 

219 rbid., 91. 

220 rbid. 

221 Ibid. 

222 rbid., 92. 

223 rbid., 93. 

224 Ibid. 

225 rbid. 

226 rbid., 94. 

227 Ibi_g., 95. 

228 rbid. 

229Moger, 216. 

23 0The term is of author virginius Dabney who 
wrote a biography of cannon entitled, Dry Messiah: The Life of 
Bishop cannon. 

92 



231Hohner, 99. 

232 1 · . 9 b Ac ipping from the 190 gu ernatorial scrapbook, 
J. Taylor Ellyson Collection, _university of Virginia Archives. 

233:Cbid. 

234Hohner, 101. 

235 rbid., 100. 

236 b'd- 102 ~., . 
237 rbid. 

238
rbid., 102. 

239A clipping from the 1909 gubernatorial scrapbook, 
J. Taylor Ellyson Collection, University of Virginia Archives. 

240Hohner, 103. 

241rbid., 106. 

242 rbid. 

243
The Richmond Times-Dispatch, August 8, 1909, 3. 

244rbid. · 

245Hohner, 106. 

246
clipping from an unidentified newspaper, Rockbridge 

Historical Society, Lexington, Virginia, 1912. 

247Booklet entitled, "A Statement of Henry St. George 
Tucker of Lexington, Virginia," Ibid., 22. 

248 Moger, Virginia Bourbonism to Byrd, 308. 

249Book Review Digest, vol. LXXII, 1915, 403. 

250Tucker, Tales of the Tuckers, 148. 

251Book Review Digest, LXXIII, 1916, 334. 

93 



252
Booklet entitled "A statement of Henry St. George 

Tucker of Lexington, Virginia," Rockbridge Historical society, 
Lexington, Virginia, 18. 

253Moger, 313. 

254rbid., 318. 

255 rbid., 328. 

256Booklet entitled 11 A Statement of Henry St. Gecrge 
Tucker of Lexington, Virginia, 11 Rockbridge Historical Society, 
Lexington, Virginia, 20. 

257rbid. 

258
The .Lexington Gazette, January 19, 1921, 2. 

259rbid. 

260Moger, Bourbonism to Byrd, 327. 

261nabney, Virginius, Virginia: The New Dominion, 473. 

262The Lexington Gazette, January 19, 1921, 2. 

263 rbid., January 12, 1921, 3. 

264
rbid. 

265
rbid., February 9, 1921, 1. 

266 Moger, Virginia, Bourbonism to Byrd, 328. 

267 b"d 1._2._. 

268 
Booklet entitled 11 A Statement of Henry St. George 

Tucker of Lexington, Virginia," Rockbridge Historical Society, 
Lexington, Virginia. 

269
rbid. 

270Moger, Virginia, Bourbonism to Byrd, 328. 

94 



-------------------­" 

• 

272Ibid. 

273The Richmond Times-Dispatch, August 7, 1921, 1 . 

274John L. Williams to·H. Tucker, Tucker Family Papers, 
McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, December 8, 1921. 

275 
F. L. Larue to H. Tucker, January 4, 1922, Ibid. 

276Moger, Bourbonism to Byrd-, 331. 

277In the democratic senatorial primary of August 1922 
Swanson easily defeated ex-Governor Davis in a test of the newly 
consolidated Byrd machine. Senator Swanson was returned to his 
seat with a vote of 102,045 over Davis' 37,871. Tucker's 
sentiments were no doubt with.the independent Davis. He remained 
silent on the issue, however, as it was the politically expedient 
thing to do. Moger, Bourbonism to Byrd, 331. 

278The Lexington Gazette, February 15, 1922, 2. 

279Ibid. 

280Ibid. 

281Ibid., March 22, 1922, 2. 

282Form letter sent out by H. Tucker, Tucker Family 
Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, January 14, 1922. 

283Letter from Dr. Beverly R. Tucker to H. Tucker, 
December 15, 1921, Ibid. 

284H. L. Wallace to Tucker, February 4, 1922, Ibid. 

285unidentified card to H. Tucker, Ibid. 

286The Lexington Gazette, March 29, 1922, 2. 

287Ibid. 

288clipping from the Staunton Leader, Rockbridge His­
torical Society, Lexington, Virginia, July 27, 1916. 

289congressional Record, 68th Cong., 1st Sess., LX:V, 
April 26, 1924, 7311-7315. 

95 



.... -
290ibid. 

291
ptaunton News Leader, Rockbridge Historical society, 

July 27, 1916. 

292 . d 68 h 1 Congressional Recor, t Cong., st Sess., LXV 
April 26, 1924, 7311-7315. 

293 b"d .Ll:_. 

294Ibid._ 

295 Ibid. 

296Ibid. 

297Ibid. 

298Ibid. 

299Ibid. 

3 ooThe Lexington Gazette, February 4, 1923, 2. 

301Ibid. 

I 

302Letter from G. W. Hook to H. Tucker, Tucker Family 
Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, January 12, 1925. 

303 
Letter from Frederic W. Kleough to Tucker, December 

3, 1924, Ibid. 

304congressional Record, 69th Cong., 2nd Sess., LXXVIII, 
January 19, 1927, 1941-1942. 

3osibid. 

306rbid. 

307Lester S. Taysen (ed.), The Constitution of the United 
States of America: Analysis and Interpretation, Article one, 
section eight, clause one, 128. 

308 . . 1 R d Congressiona ecor, 69th Cong., 1st Sess., LXVII, 
March 3, 1926, 4931-4939. 

96 



----.......--

309
rbido 

310rbid. 

311
rbid. 

312rbid., 69th Cong., 2nd Sess., LXXVIII, January 19, 
1927, 1941-1942. 

313 rbid. 

314 b'd-~-
315rbid. 

316rbid., 71st Cong., 3rd Sess., LXXIV, February 17, 
1932, 4357-4361. 

536-560. 

317
rbid., 68th Cong., 1st Sess., LXV,« January 3, 1924, 

318Ibid. 

319Ibid. 

320
rbid. 

321Ibid. 

322rbid .. 

323
rbid. 

324
Ibid. 

325 b'd ~-
326rbid. 

327rbid. 

328rbid. 

329 b'd ~-
330rbid. 

97 

,I 



331rbid. 

332 
Letter from Georges. Graham to H. Tucker, Tucker 

Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexington, Virginia, February 
7, 1925. 

333Tucker to Mrs. Helen McNamara, Tucker Family Papers, 
Ibid., December 17, 1924. 

334The Lexington Gazette, March 4, 1925, 2. 

335congressional Record, 68th Cong., 2nd Sess., LXVI, 
February 20, 1925, 268. 

336 rbid. 

337Letter from Mrs. Bertie Hamen to H. Tucker, Tucker 
Family Papers, McCormick Library, Lexin9ton, Virginia, March 
22, 1925. 

338The Lexington Gazette, February 25, 1925, 3. 

339 Tucker, Tales of the Tuckers, 152. 

340congressional Record, 72nd Cong., 2nd Sess., LXXVI, 
February 17, 1933, 4357-4361. 

341Tucker, Tales of the Tuckers, 152. 

98 



• -

BIBLIOGAAPHY 

Primary Sources 

The Tucker Family Papers, located in McCormick Library at 
Washington and Lee University, Lexington, Virginia; 
1888-1932. 

The Tucker Manuscripts, located in the Southern Historical 
Collection at the library of the University of 
North Carolina; 1888-1896. 

Henry St. George Tucker Papers in The Rockbridge County 
Historical Society, located in McCormick Libary at 
Washington and Lee University, Lexington, Virginia. 

Congressional Record, 1889-1896 and 1922-1933. 

Scrapbook of the 1909 Democratic Gubernatorial Primary, J. 
Taylor Ellyson Collection located in the library of 
the University of Virginia. 

Interview with Mrs. Laura Fletcher, daushter of Henry St. 
George Tucker, in January, 1979 in Lexington, Virginia. 

Secondary Sources 

Books 

Dabney, Virginius. Virginia, The New Dominion. New York: 
Doubleday and Co., 1971. 

Nevins, Allan. Grover Cleveland, a study in courage. New 
York: Dodd, Mead and Company, 1938. 

Maddox, Jack P. The Virginia Conservatives 1867-1879, a 
Study in Reconstruction Politics. Chapel Hill: 
University of North Carolina Press, 1970. 

99 



Moger, Allen W._ Virginia Bourbonism to Byrd 1870-1925. 
Charlottesville: ~he University Press of Virginia, 
1968. 

Tucker, Beverly Randolph. TaLes of the Tuckers. Richmond, 
Virginia: The Dietz Printing Company, 1942. 

Newspapers 

The Lexington Gazette 1888-1932 ., 

The Richmond Times-Dispatch 1888-1932~ 

Periodicals 

Hohner, Robert A. "Prohibition and Virginia Politics: William 
Hodges Mann versus Henry St. George Tucker, 1909, 11 

The Virginia Magazine of History and Biography 
44:91-105, July 18, 1966. 

100 


	RG38_Humphreys_thesis_1979_0001
	RG38_Humphreys_thesis_1979_0002

